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We strive to excel in the spirit of ‘being for others’
our mission identifies why we exist;  

to bring the healing ministry of Jesus to those who are sick, 
dying and in need through  

‘being for others’:

in the Spirit of Mary standing by her Son on Calvary 

through the provision of quality, responsive and 
compassionate health, community and aged care services 

based on Gospel values, and 

in celebration of the rich heritage and story of the Sisters of 
the little Company of Mary. 

Our vision identifies what we are  
striving to become 

to be, and to be recognised as, a leader in strengthening 
and developing Catholic health at regional and national levels 

through the creation of integrated models of care where 
excellence and leadership are pursued by all to meet best the 

needs of the people and communities we serve.

Our values are visible in how we  
act and treat others 

as stewards of the rich heritage of care and compassion of 
the little Company of Mary,  
we are guided by our values.

The Spirit of Calvary
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Hospitality 
Demonstrates our response to the desire to be welcomed, to feel 
wanted and to belong. it is our responsibility to extend this to all who 
come into contact with our services by promoting connectedness and 
listening and responding openly. 

Healing 
Demonstrates our desire to respond to the whole person by caring 
for their spiritual, psychological and physical well being. it is our 
responsibility to value and consider the whole person and to promote 
healing through reconnecting, reconciling and building relationships.

Stewardship 
recognises that as individuals and as a community all we have has been 
given to us as a gift. it is our responsibility to manage these precious 
resources effectively for the future. we are responsible for: striving 
for excellence, developing personal talents, material possessions, our 
environment, and handing on the mission of the Sisters of the little 
Company of Mary. 

Respect 
recognises the value and dignity of every person who is associated 
with our services. it is our responsibility to care for all with whom we 
come into contact with justice and compassion no matter what the 
circumstances, and we are prepared to stand up for what we believe 
and challenge behaviour which is contrary to our values.

Many of the hospital’s patients, 
families and supporters leave 
a bequest to us in their will. 
Bequests help us to continue our 
work and to provide enhanced 
care for our patients.

Bequests are given in general 
medicine, oncology, research, 
alcohol & drug services and palliative 
care including, wards and services 
assisting with the promotion of 
positive community attitudes toward 
the necessity and desire of quality 
health care. your contribution will 
go on helping us through the 21st 
century. your contribution can be a 
fixed amount or a percentage of your 
estate. you can nominate to assist in 
the general provision of our services 
or your bequest can be directed 
toward a specific unit, project or type 
of service.

How to Make a Bequest
to assist in the preparation of a 
bequest may we advise the following 
wording:-

i, (name), given ($amount) free of all 
duties and testamentary expense 
to Calvary Mater Newcastle for the 
purpose of patient care/service 
development, and i direct that the 
receipt of the General Manager 
shall be sufficient discharge of my 
executors for this bequest.

if you would like more information 
about services provided at our 
hospital and how best to use 
your intended bequest, please do 
not hesitate to contact our Chief 
executive officer.

Chief Executive Officer 
Calvary Mater Newcastle 
Locked Bag 7 
Hunter Region Mail Centre  
NSW 2310
Telephone +61 2 4014 4700 
Facsimile +61 2 4014 4711

Bequests

Stewardship

Healing
Respect
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Report from the  
Chief Executive Officer

As the newly appointed Chief 
Executive Officer of Calvary Mater 
Newcastle (CMN), I would like to 
publicly acknowledge and thank 
the outgoing General Manager, Mr 
Colin Osborne, for his dedicated 
and loyal contribution over a period 
of twelve years at CMN. Colin was 
instrumental in the development of 
services at the hospital and made a 
significant contribution during a long 
and arduous redevelopment phase 
of CMN. 

There has been significant changes 
in the New South Wales Department 
of Health with Area Health Service 
governance structures being 
dismantled, and local health 
districts being established as from 
1st January 2011, with Governing 
Boards. The Hunter New England 
Area Health Service geographical 
boundaries remain unchanged and 
the name has now transformed 
to the Hunter New England Local 
Health District. The local health 
district and CMN will work under 
a purchaser/provider arrangement 
with a service level and performance 
agreement to be entered into by 
both parties. 

CMN benefitted from a State 
Government funded enhancement to 
establish a twelve bed Emergency 
Short Stay Unit to improve access 
for Emergency Department patients. 
The unit became operational on 
8th November 2010 and is a new 
model of care in which patients 
will be admitted under the care of 
the Emergency Department Staff 
Specialist. The unit operates as 
an extension of the Emergency 

Department and means that 
Emergency Department staff can 
admit patients who require a period 
of short observation or admission 
before being safely discharged, 
which can be particularly beneficial 
for our older patients. Patients 
awaiting transfer to another 
hospital, or those undergoing 
a sub-specialty review out of 
hours will also be treated in the 
Emergency Short Stay Unit.

The Community Advisory Board 
continues to meet bi-monthly and 
provides significant support and 
advice to the hospital’s executive. 
The Community Advisory Board 
members also attend official 
functions and represent CMN in the 
community. I would like to recognise 
the significant commitment of Mr 
Robert Caddies as a Board member 
of CMN and more recently as a 
Community Advisory Board member. 
Robert, who resigned from the CAB 
in May 2011, had been involved 
with CMN for a long period of time, 
approximately twenty-five years, and 
provided strong advice and support 
in his governance role.

The hospital continues to receive 
valuable support and advice from 
Little Company of Mary Health Care 
Board, National Office and the local 
health district in continuing the 
hospital’s role as a major cancer 
care facility.

The year in review contains 
many highlights which are 
contained within the report. These 
achievements reflect great credit 
on the commitment of the hospital 

staff and the calibre of individuals 
involved. I would also like to take 
this opportunity to thank our 
Auxiliary and our volunteers for their 
generous contributions of their time 
and dedication in assisting CMN staff 
to deliver high level, compassionate 
and quality care to our community.

I trust you will enjoy reviewing the 
hospital’s achievements contained 
throughout this report.

Greg Flint 
Chief Executive Officer
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Community 
Advisory Board

Hospital Management 
Committee
Colin Osborne General Manager 

Greg Flint Chief executive officer from 20th June 2011

Dr Alison McLean Director Clinical Services (Medical) - resigned 
November 2010

Dr Robert Porter acting Director Clinical Services (Medical) - 
December 2010

Ailsa Hawkins Director Clinical Services (Nursing)

Wayne Wells Director of finance

Lynne O’Brien assistant Director Clinical Services (Nursing) 

Alison Lee assistant Director Clinical Services (Medical) 

Barbara Durrant acting Quality Manager & project Manager, 
redevelopment - resigned January 2011

Michael Hodgson Human resources Manager 

Heather Alexander Health information Services Manager 

Jeanette Upton Quality Manager - leave from July to December 
2010

Ingrid Grenell public affairs & Communications Manager 

Kevin Mulligan Director of Mission

Robert Caddies resigned May 2011

Cathy Tate

Professor Brian English

Richard Anicich appointed february 2011

Teresa Brierley appointed May 2011

Lee Shearer appointed february 2011

Colin Osborne (General Manager)

Greg Flint (Chief executive officer) from 20th June 2011

Wayne Wells (Director of finance)

Kevin Mulligan, Director of Mission

Walter Kmet, National Director public Hospitals, 
little Company of Mary Health Care
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Highlights & Achievements

General Medicine
During the last financial year, the 
department remained very busy. 
we had some increases in staff and 
some of our long term plans came to 
fruition which was very satisfying for 
everyone. 

Inpatient Activity
the department continues to have 
heavy inpatient activity and once 
again there were 3,200 separations 
which were managed despite 
restriction of bed availability.

Operation of the Medical 
Assessment Unit (MAU)
the MaU continues to see 25% of all 
the department’s admissions and has 
been successfully managed by our 
advanced trainees.

Staffing
this year we have obtained 
Commonwealth funding for a 
3rd advanced trainee in General 
Medicine to support our outreach 
programmes and in 2012 we will 
have a 4th person in combination 

with Maitland Hospital.

also this year, our department has 
had to support Maitland Hospital 
Department of Medicine. we have 
not yet been able to recruit the 
necessary senior staff. as a result, 
our own consultant staff and our 
administrative staff have had a very 
challenging year but have maintained 
all of the Department’s normal 
activities despite these difficulties.  

Mater to Mungindi Program
this program in remote area health 
is supported by the Commonwealth 
Medical Specialists outreach access 
program and we have been running 
it now for approximately five and 
a half years. the program is very 
much appreciated both by patients 
and by General practitioners in 
the north western part of the area 
Health Service reach and it has 
been an extremely rewarding an 
instructive activity. this year two 
advanced trainees have been 
involved in the programme as well 

as Doctors foy and tierney. 

we have now delivered 647 occasions 
of Service for 350 individual patients. 
involvement in the programme is now 
a normal requirement for advanced 
training with us.

Research and Development
various clinical research programs 
and development of new programs 
have been proceeding actively 
this year guided by clinical studies 
carried out by various members 
of the Department. Dr wijethilaka, 
advanced trainee has completed 
a study of the Management of 
Hyponatraemia and Dr thu, now 
in his second year of advanced 
training, has continued his work on 
the association between Marijuana 
use and tuberculosis. 

altogether this has been a very 
successful and productive year for 
the Department of General Medicine 
despite the challenges we continue to 
face surrounding our bed base.
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During the last year the Coronary 
Care Unit continued to have a high 
patient load admitting an average 
of 57 patients per month for the 
year. in line with the general trend 
in acute coronary syndromes, 
most of these patients represented 
acute coronary syndromes rather 
than acute myocardial infarction. 
these patients are stabilised and 
those patients requiring urgent 
cardiac catheterisation have this 
procedure performed at the royal 
Newcastle Centre at John Hunter 
Hospital and return to the Coronary 
Care Unit at CMN immediately 
after the procedure. the smaller 
number of patients with acute 
myocardial infarction are now 
managed with either pre hospital 
thrombolysis or direct transfer for 
angiography. patients presenting to 

the hospital are managed with acute 
thrombolysis. 

in addition to the traditional coronary 
care management, the unit provides a 
valuable service to the other units of 
the hospital performing cardioversions, 
transoesophageal echocardiography, 
pericardiocentesis and insertion of 
temporary pacing wires. the unit has 
purchased a new simplified device for 
non-invasive ventilation for patients 
with acute cardiac failure. 

the peter Curteis education Grant 
continues to provide support for 
further education of junior medical 
and nursing staff and this year was 
awarded to Dr Johannes prajogo, SMo 
eSSU and CNS anne thomson from 
CCU. this valuable grant enabled Dr 
prajogo to complete a transthoracic 
echocardiographic course which has 

improved his skills in echocardiography 
to enable emergency studies to 
be performed in the emergency 
Department. Clinical Nurse Specialist 
anne thomson utilised the grant to 
attend the australian Commission on 
Safety and Quality and Health Care 
Conference on the DeteCt program 
and is currently a “super trainer” 
with the DeteCt program within the 
hospital. 

the Cardiology Department continues 
to provide inpatient and outpatient 
support services in eCG, exercise 
testing, echocardiography and 
transoesophageal echocardiography. 

echocardiographer luke warner 
was awarded the Dean’s award for 
excellence in completing his graduate 
diploma in echocardiography at 
Queensland University of technology. 

in 2011, CMN implemented the first 
stage of the NSw Department of 
Health initiative, the patient flow 
portal. 

two years ago the performance 
improvement Branch began a 
redesign project developing patient 
flow Systems. a range of staff 
from different facilities in NSw were 
interviewed and asked ‘what do 
they see as the biggest issues facing 
patient flow?’ the information was 
collated and seven essential elements 
of patient flow Systems were 
developed. this in turn has led to 
the development of the patient flow 
portal. the patient flow portal brings 
together four tools into a single point 
of access in a web based portal. 

1. BeDBoarD

2.  preDiCtive tool - Demand and 
Capacity

3.  waND - ward activity Nursing 
Display

4.  leNGtH of Stay MoNitor - 
tracking loS of patients by ward, 
facility and area

Patient Flow Portal

Coronary Care Unit

the patient flow portal provides 
real-time information to front line 
staff in hospitals and allows them 
to take timely actions and improve 
patient care, flow and access. it 
also provides area and department 
executives with up-to-date hospital 
data such as where beds are 
available and what patient flow 
activity or blockages are occurring in 
wards and in hospitals.

Benefits of the new BedBoard will be:
• l ive information on what is 

happening in our facility.
•  facility view with local health 

network capability.
•  simplified inter-hospital transfer 

transactions.
•  less patient delays.

patients are our main focus and we 
must ensure they have access to the 
right care, at the right time, and in 
the right place, with minimum waiting 
times. we look forward to the next 
stages of the implementation.
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2010/11 has been a busy 
year with an increase in the 
number of patients seen each 
month. the Calvary Mater 
acute pain Service (apS) is 
an anaesthetist supervised 
nurse led service. the 
director of the apS is Dr Keith 
Streatfeild and the Clinical 
Nurse Specialist (CNS) is Ms 
Jeanene Douglas.

Due to the increased 
number of patients requiring 
the service, the hours of 
operation for the apS were 
increased in March 2011 to 
28 hours per week.

over the next 12 months 
the apS will continue the 
initiatives already commenced 
and initiate others to ensure 
the CMN staff and patients 
have access to an effective 
and efficient apS that reflects 
current best practice.

the management committee 
of the apS is Dr Keith 
Streatfeild, Jeanene Douglas, 
alison lee and Cheryl Cooley. 
the management committee 
endeavours to meet regularly 
with minutes recorded.

the most significant event for the 
emergency Department for the 
2010/11 financial year was the opening 
of the emergency Department Short 
Stay Unit (eSSU) in November 2010. 
this followed significant enhancement 
in funding which had been successfully 
negotiated by the Calvary Mater 
Newcastle executive with Hunter New 
england area Health Service. this 
funding allowed enhanced medical 
staff, nursing staff, increased hours 
for Clinical Nurse educator and the 
addition of allied Health Staff. 

Since opening in November 2010, 
the emergency Short Stay Unit has 
had 2,471 admissions, averaging 309 
patients per month. 

Coinciding with other projects to 
improve quality and timely care 
of patients, the opening of the 
emergency Short Stay Unit has seen 
the CMN emergency Department 
meet and exceed the ‘Seen By 
times’ Key performance indicator 
benchmark across all of the 
australasian triage Scale categories.

our emergency Department 
presentations continue to increase 
with 30,629 patients being treated 
this financial year. 9,309 admissions 
through the emergency Department 
for 2010/11, saw an increase of 
1,700 admissions from the previous 
financial year.

this year we welcomed Staff 
Specialist, Dr Brett Squires from 
Sydney (originally a Novocastrian). 
an increase in Middle Grade Medical 
Staff has provided appropriate cover 
to the eD and eSSU. there has also 

been increased Clinical Support Staff.

Dr Johann Gildenhuys has accepted 
the Deputy Director’s role with 
Michael Downes continuing in the 
role of Director of emergency Medical 
training. CMNeD functions within a 
HNelHD emergency Network and 
has strengthened ties within the 
HNelHD emergency Network during 
the last year. 

the emergency Department:
•  clinical initiative Nurse training 

days.
•  senior emergency Department 

Staff on the DeteCt.
•  faculty responsible for providing 

education to the hospital clinical 
staff.

•  improved Bedside Handover 
implementation, (recommendation 
from the Garling report).

•  continued Disaster and pandemic 
planning education including, 
eMerGo scenario training and 
MiMMS Disaster Commander 
training. 

•  new and updated emergency 
Department Guidelines ensure 
current and best practice 
continues within our emergency 
Department.

New equipment for the emergency 
Department also assisted in 
enhancing care for our patients. 
Donations from families allowed us to 
purchase Mobile intravenous stands 
and tympanic thermometers. 

the emergency Department 
continues to have high staff retention, 
whilst providing current best practice 
and optimal care to our patients.

Emergency Department and Emergency Short Stay Unit The Acute Pain Service
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the alcohol and Drug Unit (aDU) 
continued with its mission to provide 
assessment and compassionate 
care to people with drug and alcohol 
problems and their families.

the activity of the aDU continues to 
be high with outpatient occasions of 
service between 240-464/month (avg 
341) and inpatient consultations of 
87-139/month (avg 107). the aDU 
continues to provide formal programs 
for tobacco, alcohol, cannabis and 
opioid use including, Buprenorphine 
assisted heroin withdrawal. individual 
counselling for these drugs and others 
is provided and also counselling for 
family/friends of those with a drug and 
alcohol problem. the aDU continues 
to be the only local alcohol and 
drug service providing appointments 
outside normal business hours.

the aDU continues to be involved 
in non-clinical activities including 
education for Gp’s and health 
professionals within the hospital and 
within Hunter New england Health 
local Health District (HNelHD). 
this includes psychology, nursing 
and medical student placements, 
university related teaching (through 
conjoint appointments) to the medical 
undergraduate courses and the 
post-graduate D&a diploma/masters 
course. the unit also continues 

with its participation with the traffic 
offenders intervention program.

During 2010/11 the aDU has continued 
to identify improvement opportunities 
and take action to meet these. 
improvement has been achieved by the 
addition of an extra 0.5 (fte) registrar 
for our service to meet patient demand. 
this has been achieved through 
support from HNelHD. this has 
enabled a timely and more streamlined 
approach to outpatient withdrawal 
treatment for patients and avoided or 
shortened presentations through the 
emergency Department. 

other improvements include increased 
access for staff to computer terminals 
and Medicare billing for consultant 
outpatient services. our lifestyles 
program (alcohol abstinence program) 
has seen some further enhancements. 
topics added to the three month 
program include self-esteem, emotional 
regulation and positive reward 
systems. these improvements have 
demonstrated benefits for our patients, 
clinicians and for the hospital. 

we are also pleased to acknowledge 
the new appointment of two staff 
members. Charlotte Clarkson has 
taken up the role of family Counsellor 
and Sharyn Carr has commenced as 
Clinical liaison Nurse. Both Charlotte 
and Sharyn have brought with them 

Alcohol and Drug (ADU)

many skills and experiences and as 
such i know we will all benefit.

of pivotal importance to the aDU is 
maintaining close links with other drug 
and alcohol services. to achieve this, 
staff from the aDU attend regular 
meetings with the Mental Health and 
Substance abuse Service (MHSUS); 
area Drug and alcohol Clinical Services 
(DaCS) and attend and participate in 
area planning activities and education 
programs. the results of this are 
compliance with the NSw Department 
of Health policy of “No wrong Doors” 
resulting in better patient outcomes 
and appropriate and prompt referral. 

our prime challenge continues to 
be facilitating elective withdrawal 
admissions. this has been an 
ongoing challenge for several years. 
work has progressed with team 
assessment of patients resulting 
in some clients being offered 
admission to lakeview Detoxification 
Service or being offered outpatient 
detoxification through aDU and 
so not requiring an inpatient 
bed. However, with continued 
communication and assistance from 
key stakeholders we continue to 
strive to shorten our waiting time for 
inpatient withdrawal treatment and 
to meet all future challenges in this 
increasing area of need. 
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the Department of Clinical toxicology 
and pharmacology provides an 
inpatient service for the management 
of patients with deliberate, 
recreational, accidental or other self-
poisoning and envenomation. for 
the management of deliberate self-
poisoning, the department combines 
with the Department of Clinical 
liaison psychiatry as the Hunter area 
toxicology Service. 

Clinicians in the department also 
manage patients with adverse drug 
reactions and provide a consultative 
service to the Hunter area Health 
Service in Clinical pharmacology. 
professor whyte serves on the 
Quality Use of Medicines Committee 
of the John Hunter Hospital and is 
Chairman of both the area Quality 
Use of Medicines Committee and 
the Clinical trials Subcommittee of 
the Hunter New england Human 
research ethics Committee. 

associate professor isbister provides 
expertise to the ethics Committee 
of the New Children’s Hospital, 
westmead. as well as these activities, 
there is a substantial commitment to 
Undergraduate and post Graduate 
teaching and an ongoing active 
research program. Members of the 
department published 19 articles in 
refereed journals last year. Clinicians 
in the department also contribute 
to the national poisons information 
Centre roster and support the Hunter 
Drug information Service which is 
part of the department .

in 2010/11 there were 825 
admissions to the Hunter area 
toxicology Service. the average age 

of patient’s at admission was 35.9 
years and the proportion who were 
female was 61.33%. there were 
705 individual patients responsible 
for these admissions, of whom 512 
were new to the service. Sixty-
eight patients had more than one 
admission during the financial year. 
of the admissions, 727 were for 
deliberate self-harm. in addition, 
there were 36 spider and snake bites, 
35 recreational drug overdoses, 
12 iatrogenic poisonings and 11 
accidental overdoses. 

the majority of the patients (97.33%) 
were admitted via the emergency 
department (eD). However, only 64% 
were discharged from the eD and 
31.76% were discharged from the 
toxicology ward. for those whose 
whole hospital stay was in the eD, 
the median length of stay was 10.8 
hours. 6.67% were admitted to the 
intensive care unit with a median 
length of stay of 38.6 hours. of the 
deliberate self-harm patients, 95.2% 
received timely and appropriate 
psychiatric assessment. 62.06% of 
patients were discharged directly 
home, while 33.33% were transferred 
to a psychiatric hospital and there 
was one death (0.12%). the average 
number of admissions per day was 
2.26 and the median length of stay 
for the deliberate self-harm patients 
was 13.8 hours. this length of stay is 
substantially less than the length of 
stay for poisoning at other hospitals 
in NSw and australia.

the department has set up and runs 
a web site at http://www.wikitox.org. 
this is an international collaboration 
of toxicological information and 

teaching resources. through this 
site the department runs a Diploma 
of Clinical toxicology degree course 
which is internationally subscribed.

the Hunter Drug information Service 
is the primary drug information 
resource for health professionals and 
provides current, up-to-date, clinically 
relevant and unbiased therapeutic 
information to all health professionals 
within the Hunter and New england 
Health District.

with the cessation of the nationally 
funded therapeutic advice & 
information Service there was a 
significant change in work flow for the 
service and the loss of one member 
of staff lisa Crisp. longstanding 
staff member, Judith Duncan, retired 
in December 2010 while yee Ching 
Ng moved to casual employment. 
Kate o’Hara joined the service in 
March 2011 and andrew ward was 
employed on a contract the service 
had with the pharmaceutical Society 
of australia to rewrite their national 
counselling guidelines. 

the service received 489 enquiries 
throughout the year. adverse drug 
reactions remained the most common 
question. the department continues 
to train pharmacy and medical 
students and other pharmacists from 
within the area.

an initiative of the service this year 
has been the introduction of a 
therapeutic drug monitoring service 
for aminoglycosides. there exists the 
opportunity to expand this to other 
drugs with appropriate staffing of 
the service and a business case is in 
preparation.

Clinical Toxicology and Pharmacology 
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the department was extremely 
active in clinical, research, teaching 
and community education activity 
and delivered the QUICATOUCH 
screening program, which conducts 
computerised screening for pain and 
distress in oncology outpatients.

the department conducts a Suicide 
prevention program, a clinical 
research unit funded from the 
Burdekin initiative and administered 
through the Hunter New england 
Mental Health Service. 

the department supervised two 
student placements including the 
Clinical psychology program at 
professional Doctorate level, and 
also supervised Gillian Maddockm 
School of psychology: research 
Higher Degree (phD) and Dr tharaka 
Dassanayake.

Service
Number of 

Patients Seen
Occasions of 

Service

Consultation-liaison psychiatry inpatients 820 1784

palliative Care inpatients 41 47

psycho-oncology outpatients 307 866

During 2010/11, the department 
consulted on around 861 individual 
inpatients, delivering over 1,813 
occasions of service. Main referral 
groups were the Department of 
Clinical toxicology (523 referrals), 
General Medicine (111), emergency 
Department (83 referrals), palliative 
Care (41 referrals) and other 
departments (103 referrals).

the psycho-oncology Service 
accepted referral of over 307 
individual patients and delivered 
more than 866 occasions of service 

to outpatients through the psycho 
oncology Clinic. the psycho-
oncology Service also provided input 
to the following multidisciplinary 
teams (MDts), Haematology, Head 
and Neck Cancer, lung Cancer and 
Breast Cancer. 

the QUICATOUCH program 
designed for screening oncology 
outpatients’ levels of distress and 
pain has provided over 10,361 
occasions of screening to more than 
5,442 patients in this financial year. 

Consultation-Liaison Psychiatry

Calvary Mater Newcastle Hospital in 
the Home is a service that provides 
treatment in the patient’s home for 
conditions that would otherwise 
require acute hospital in-patient 
care. the service focuses on 
avoidable patient admissions or early 
discharge from hospital. 

the service continues to work with 
clinicians to promote the benefits of 
acute care in the home, with a total 
of 262 patients this financial year, a 
trend increase from previous years.

Bound by geographical location, 
the area serviced includes Greater 
Newcastle, port Stephens, east lake 
Macquarie to Swansea and west 
lake Macquarie to toronto. the 
service operates seven days a week 
between 8.30am to 5pm, 365 days 
a year.

a patient satisfaction survey was 
undertaken this year, with positive 
feedback.

HiTH Patient Satisfaction Survey July - December 2010
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one hundred and thirty eight surveys 
were sent out to patients randomly 
selected from a six month period from 
2010/11, with a response rate of 38%.

Hospital in the Home Calvary Mater 
Newcastle has been working under 
one umbrella in collaboration with 
other Hospital in the Home Services 
across the Hunter New england area 
for some time now. 

regular review of policies, 
procedures, outcomes and service 
goals has allowed us to both prosper 
and strengthen, in our development 
as a service. we hope this continues 
as the need for nursing of acutely ill 
people in their own home continues 
to grow.

Hospital in the Home 
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Medical Oncology 
Significant changes have occurred in 
the Department of Medical oncology. 
Because of waiting times to see a 
Medical oncologist and delays in 
starting chemotherapy, media exposure 
led to the local health district calling 
for a Medical oncology review. this 
occurred in May 2011. the report 
is eagerly awaited and hopefully the 
implementation of recommendations 
within it will result in improvement in 
delivery of patient care.

personnel changes have seen the 
retirement of Dr John Stewart from 
Calvary Mater Newcastle after a 
long association with the hospital 
(having set up the Medical oncology 
unit in 1984). we thank John for the 
significant contribution he has made 
to oncology in the Hunter region and 
we wish him well in his retirement. 

Oncology 
we welcome Dr andre van Der 
westhuizen as a Staff Specialist after 
working as a locum for the past year. 

we are pleased to see the 
appointment of a Medical oncologist 
at taree, starting in March 2012. 

two of our advanced trainees will 
leave us this year to complete further 
training in Melbourne (Dr James 
lynam and Dr prashanth prithviraj – 
thank you boys).

a first for the area was the appointment 
of an oncology Nurse practitioner 
with funds donated by port waratah 
Coal Service and the Supporters 
of Cancer Group. assistance from 
the Cancer institute NSw has 
also enabled the appointment of 
a Career Medical officer based 
in the Day treatment Centre.

Much groundwork during 2010/11 
has resulted in a major change 

occurring in the way we process 
chemotherapy drugs with outsourcing 
of compounding and drug deliveries 
now being provided by fresenius Kabi 
from august 2011. this has resulted 
in streamlining, improved service to 
patients and significant cost savings 
to the hospital.

our department has entered into a 
collaboration with the University of 
Newcastle to coordinate student 
teaching in oncology during fifth 
year. this also assists to provide our 
department with some workforce 
support, a ‘win win’ situation.

Congratulations to Dr Stephen 
ackland on being appointed Director 
of the Hunter translational Cancer 
research Unit from September 2011.

although we continue to have major 
challenges, our unit is making positive 
progress.
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Radiation Oncology
the Department of radiation oncology 
marked its 25th anniversary of operation 
on 28th august 2010 with an open day 
for the community to view the changes 
within the department over the years in 
technology, better patient outcomes, and 
to view our role as drivers of clinical and 
translational research at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle. 

Up until June 2011, over 2000 new 
patients were seen and over 1500 
proceeded to radiotherapy treatment, 
cementing our position as the busiest 
department in NSw.  whilst the referral 
rates have gone up by 40% over the 
past five years, and despite equipment 
enhancement from three to five linear 
accelerators; patient waiting lists are rarely 
less than six weeks. the recent medical 
oncology waiting list crisis has added a 
significant bottleneck to treatment access 
locally. NSw radiotherapy utilisation rates 
suggest that there is still a significant 
unmet need for treatment in the Hunter 
New england local Health District. 

the Hunter linear accelerator, which went 
clinical in october 2010, has allowed 
the introduction of intensity modulated 
radiotherapy (iMrt) with image guidance 
for the treatment of prostate cancer now 
available across three of our five linear 
accelerators. patients with head and 
neck malignancies are now also able to 
benefit from the introduction of iMrt to 
maximise cure rates whilst minimising 
normal tissue damage within the fields. 

the installation onsite (in radiology) 
of the first oncology specific Siemens 
SkyraMri in australia has already made 
a huge positive impact on the ability to 
obtain timely Mri scans for our inpatients, 
without the added trauma of transfer to 
John Hunter Hospital for an urgent Mri. 
Mri based planning has now become 
available for selected radiotherapy 
outpatients, and Mri planning for cervix 
cancer brachytherapy has commenced, 
which allows us to mould the dose 
delivered around the volume of residual 
cancer, which we were previously unable 
to visualise radiologically.

Many staff here have been heavily 
involved in the planning and design 
of the tamworth sited New england 
North west regional Cancer Centre 
(NeNw rCC), which is anticipated to be 

operational by mid 2013. whilst the new 
unit will be run autonomously, there are 
expectations of collaborations between 
the centres for complex patient care, 
teaching and research purposes.

we said goodbye to Camille formston 
and welcomed ashley powell as NUM. 
a successful physics recruitment drive 
has paid dividends with the appointment 
of paul Simpson and Sadia aftab. Dr 
Geetha Govindarajulu passed her part 
2 exams and was appointed as a post 
Graduate fellow sub specialising in 
Gynae-oncology. Dr Carminia lapuz 
passed her phase 1 exam. annette Skov 
completed a Grad Cert of applied Health 
Management, peter pichler completed 
a Masters of public Health and Health 
administration, alex Browne completed 
a post graduate certificate MrS (rt), 
and Karen Jovanovic has been awarded 
a Doctorate in Health Science. Kerrie 
Mcphee-ryan has put in a huge 
effort this year project managing the 
implementation of Sharepoint document 
management system throughout the 
department.

over the next twelve months, we look 
forward to being able to offer patients 
iMrt to other tumour sites, 4D Ct 
simulation, volumetric modulated 
arc therapy (vMat), and stereotactic 
radiotherapy to both cranial and extra-
cranial sites, and introduce Mri based 
planning across selected tumour groups. 
this, together with the proposed HMri 
sited translational radiation oncology 
research Centre, will allow this 
department to fulfil its role as a tertiary 
referral radiotherapy treatment centre 
for clinical excellence, underpinned by 
translational research.

Radiation Oncology 
Research (CCRR) and 
Research Physics Group
the Department of radiation oncology 
has associations with several research 
groups both in-house, and as close 
collaborators. the radiation oncology 
department, as a whole, has published 
22 papers over 2010/2011, with authors 
representing the full range of in-house 
disciplines. the unit continues to be a 
high recruiter for clinical trials, particularly 
in the areas of prostate, breast and head 

and neck malignancies. 

over the past year, we have recruited 
94 patients to 19 open clinical trials (the 
majority are troG sponsored), and 218 
patients continued on follow up. we 
continue to be very fortunate to be able 
to host the central operations office of the 
trans tasman radiation oncology Group 
(troG) onsite, ably run by rowena amin 
and supported by Dr Chris wratten. their 
co-location allows a number of our staff 
to be seconded to troG to gain unique 
and specialised experience in clinical 
trials management, quality assurance 
and support. professor Jim Denham’ s 
prostate Cancer trials Group continues to 
publish high quality long term outcomes 
from the multi-centre troG 96.01 and 
raDar studies, centred on the optimal 
management of localised  high risk 
prostate cancer.

radiation therapists Joel parker, Stephanie 
wrightson and Clare Monk are developing 
stand alone and collaborative projects to 
encourage rts involvement in research.

associate prof peter Stanwell has joined 
assoc prof peter Greer’s research 
physics Group to add his expertise 
in magnetic resonance imaging and 
spectroscopy to our translational research 
programme encompassing radiology, 
functional imaging, and adaptive 
treatment.  peter Greer was awarded 
the HMri pulse early Career researcher 
award for 2011, and his research 
department continues to punch above 
its weight in the areas of peer reviewed 
publications and successful grants. 

future research directions are focused on 
the development of a translational radiation 
oncology research centre in conjunction 
with the Department of Nuclear Medicine, 
HMri and the University of Newcastle. the 
research centre will house an Mri-pet 
scanner, cyclotron and research linear 
accelerator to facilitate the use of functional 
imaging and image guided radiation 
therapy for adaptive response radiotherapy 
for a range of tumour types, both in 
clinical and laboratory settings. the unit 
will be integrated with the planned HMri 
building to be constructed adjacent to the 
Calvary Mater Campus within the next five 
years. we see this project as a valuable 
tool for collaboration across the radiation 
oncology, radiology and nuclear medicine 
disciplines, and with our colleagues at the 
University of Newcastle. 
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the Department of Surgical 
oncology and the australian 
New Zealand Breast Cancer 
trials Group (aNZ BCtG) 
continue to coordinate national 
and international collaboration 
in randomised clinical trials for 
women diagnosed with or at risk 
of breast cancer. this national 
activity is an important resource 
for Calvary Mater Newcastle. the 
Department of Surgical oncology 
and the operations office of the 
aNZ BCtG are located in the NBN 
telethon Mater institute on the 
Mater Campus. professor John 
forbes is Director, Department of 
Surgical oncology and Director of 
research for the aNZ BCtG. 

Current clinical trials encompass 
prevention and treatment of all 
stages of breast cancer. this 
collaboration involves more than 
600 researchers, 80 institutions 
and 60 unique clinical trials. a 
new finding is that mammographic 
breast density is the first 
confirmed biomarker of breast 
cancer risk and of treatment 
response. the aNZ BCtG will 
launch a new trial, apHiNity, to 
test a new targeted agent called 
pertuzumab. other trials will 
investigate local treatment and 
new systemic approaches for 
all stages of breast cancer and 
new prevention trials. the large 
international prevention trial, iBiS 
ii, will complete the recruitment 
phase in December 2011.

During 2010-2011, the aNZ BCtG 
supported a joint appointment 
of a Clinical research fellow, Dr 
eugene leong, to work both in 
the aNZ BCtG operations office 
and the Department of radiation 
oncology. this was a productive 
and successful venture and a new 
fellow position will be supported 
in 2012.

the annual Scientific Meeting of 
the aNZ BCtG was held in Sydney 
in July 2010. 

Surgical Oncology

in the 2010/11, approximately 900 
(up from 850) new patients were 
seen by the Clinical Haematology 
Staff Specialists. the number 
of follow up reviews for patients 
also increased to 8,000 from 
7,850 in the previous year. 

in addition to the need to supply 
consultative, diagnostic and patient 
management services to the Hunter 
region, CMN Clinical Haematology 
Unit is the only tertiary referral 
centre for mid and northern NSw. 
for patients who require intensive 
chemotherapy regimens that can only 
be delivered as an inpatient, CMN is 
the sole hospital, public or private, to 
deliver this type of health care. 

the year ended positively with 
additional funding becoming available 
for blood products. a locum Staff 
Specialist was appointed to assist 
with the delivery of service.

Debbie Carr was appointed Nurse 
Unit Manager of the Haematology 
Day ward. the day ward is an 
exemplary model of delivering 
maximum levels of treatment 
possible as outpatient therapy.  

acknowledging the unit’s successful 
training of future specialists, the two 
advanced trainees sitting their part 
one haematology specialist exams, 
Drs robert Hensen and Bryony ross, 
both passed. 

Dr Sam yuen was employed by 
the unit in March 2011 as a locum 
staff specialist to assist in the 
department’s large clinical and 
laboratory workload.

Community Donations 

Money donated by the family of 
former patient penny Beame in 2010 
has been well used to replace all 
televisions and DvD players in wards 
5C/D with new digital units. this 
helps to provide entertainment for the 
inpatients as well as patients coming 
to visit in the day ward. 

Calvary Mater Newcastle auxiliary 
kindly funded the purchase of eight 
wall mounted observation machines 
for the isolation rooms in ward 5C 
to minimise cross contamination 
through equipment sharing. other 
smaller donations were pooled 
together to purchase a new blood 
warmer for use in ward 5D. 

Haematology 
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Palliative Care 

associate professor Katherine 
Clark was welcomed to our 
department in June 2010 as 
Director and area Director of 
palliative Care. During the 2010/11 
financial year we have been a busy 
unit with numerous publications 
being generated and accepted for 
publication.

the department was nominated 
for an award at the palliative 
Care NSw Gala Dinner held on 
27th May 2011. Unfortunately we 
missed out this time, but there is 
always next time!

the research unit within the 
department is involved in a number 
of clinical trials with the palliative 
Care Clinical Studies Collaborative 
(paCCSC), Qld University of 
technology, and Qld iMet. we 
were open to recruitment for a 
total of nine studies throughout 
the financial year. Notably, we 
were involved with recruiting to the 
“Ketamine for Cancer pain” study, 
which was the first of the paCCSC 
studies completed in January 
2011.

over the financial year a total of 
224 patients were screened for 
clinical trial suitability (this is only 
a basic pre-screening process 
to see if they were suitable for 
clinical trial involvement). out of 
this 20 patients gave consent 
to be involved in clinical trial 
participation, and 16 went on to 
participate (met eligibility criteria 
and participated in a clinical trial).

the department has also been 
involved in a number of research 
projects. the research unit 
within the department has been 
involved in at least 10 projects 
and a number of staff have 
participated in a number of other 
research projects (not all of these 
projects are listed in the research 
component of this report).

the Surgical Unit provides care for general and oncological surgical patients.

the Stomal therapy wound Management Service and the acute pain Service 
are managed from the Surgical Unit and Dr peter Martin has been appointed as 
Chairman of Surgery.

funding was sought and successfully granted by the McGrath foundation this year 
to employ a Breast Care Nurse full time for a period of three years in late 2010.

the McGrath Breast Care Nurse has been designated as a Hunter New england 
Health Service (by the McGrath foundation) CNC 2 position located and 
managed at CMN by the Surgical Unit.

the McGrath Breast Care Nurse, rebecca Chenery commenced in March 2011.

the position is designated to three days per week at CMN, one day per week at 
Maitland Hospital and one day per week at Cessnock Community Centre.

the McGrath Breast Care Nurse position is the only Breast Care Nurse available 
to patients in the public hospital system in the Greater Newcastle and lower 
Hunter sectors.

the McGrath Breast Care Nurse provides support and education for patients 
with breast cancer from diagnosis through to palliation. promotion of breast 
awareness and early detection are also a part of this role. this important 
role enhances services to patients undergoing breast cancer surgery, breast 
reconstructive surgery and various types of cancer treatment.

Rebecca Chenery, McGrath Breast Care Nurse

Surgical
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activity in the intensive Care Unit 
(iC) continues to be high with 
389 admissions, of which 62% 
were ventilated, an increase on 
last year. average occupancy 
for the unit was 87% and 
average length of stay was 4.6 
days. iCU continues to provide 
hospital wide services which 
include central line insertion and 
nutritional support for patients 
requiring tpN (in conjunction 
with the Dietetics Department). 

the biggest impact on the iCU 
this year has again been our role 
on the rapid response team 
which provides the response to 
clinical emergencies throughout 
the hospital. the activity of 
the rapid response team has 
climbed even further this year 
with 631 events, up by 22%. 

in 2010/11 Melissa lintott 
coordinated the one-day 
DeteCt course with the 
valuable help from team 
members from the emergency 
Department, intensive Care Unit, 
Coronary Care Unit and ward 
5B. this program is aimed at 
enhancing the ability of clinical 
staff from around the hospital 
to recognise and manage a 
deteriorating patient.

the iCU continues to be an 
active member of the aNZiCS 
Clinical trials Group participating 
in several research projects. 
the 4th point prevalence Study 
Day has just been completed 
as has the early pN study. the 
ongoing multicentre trials are 
CHeSt (comparing saline to 
starch fluid for resuscitation) and 
Nephro-protect (determining if 
supplemental protein protects 
kidney function). research 
Coordinators for these trials, 
Suzanna vale and irene Bailey, 
have been complimented by 
the trial Coordinators on the 
exemplary manner they have 
managed these projects at CMN. 

Intensive Care Unit 

Melanoma Unit

the Melanoma Unit has had a 
busy year with a change to the 
management structure, with Medical 
Services Directorate assuming 
executive responsibility for the unit. 

Dr Charles Douglas continues in the 
role of acting Director of the Unit. 
Dr ralph Gourlay has returned from 
his leave and we again have four 
surgeons to cover the surgical roster. 

professor peter Hersey has taken 
up an appointment in Sydney, but 
continues to be involved in the 
Melanoma Unit in both a clinical 
and research capacity. this year, 
we were very fortunate to have Dr 
James lynam, Medical oncology 
advanced trainee registrar, for a 
term. Dr lynam worked closely with 
professor peter Hersey to learn 
more about melanoma management 
and research, particularly at a 
time when there are some exciting 
medical developments on the 

horizon. James’ input has also been 
extremely valuable to all of us. 

on a staffing level we have 
welcomed new administrative and 
nursing staff. Catherine wells has 
joined us as medical typist and 
annie Coleman as registered Nurse. 
Clinical Nurse Consultant Donna 
owens has completed an intensive 
lymphoedema management course 
this year, which ran full time over 
two weeks. we will derive good 
benefit from Donna’s training and her 
expertise in this area.

finally, the Cutaneous Malignancies 
tumour Group continues to meet 
regularly, and is developing plans 
for specific morbidity and mortality 
audits and educational meetings.
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our mission is to bring the healing 
ministry of Jesus to all those who 
are sick, dying and in need through 
‘being for others’. this is the reason 
why we exist and it is central to all of 
our activity at CMN. Mission provides 
us with the focus and direction 
so that we are able to provide the 
range of services that meet the 
needs of the community. all staff 
are witnesses to mission through 
their engagement with our patients, 
family members and visitors as well 
as through their relationships with 
their colleagues. thus mission is 
exemplified by the commitment and 
action of each staff member in living 
out our values of Hospitality, Healing, 
Stewardship and respect. 

Since its foundation by the Sisters 
of Mercy in 1921, the hospital has 
become a significant landmark in 
the Newcastle region with a strong 
tradition of providing compassionate 
care to the community. this tradition 
has continued following the transfer 
of ownership to little Company of 
Mary Health Care in 2006. Mission 

is an integral part of who we are 
and to celebrate this, a series of 
heritage panels have been created 
which highlight various aspects of the 
hospital’s history and some of the 
people who have played an important 
role in it. the panels are on display 
in the hospital foyer and include 
biographies of the founders of the 
Sisters of Mercy and little Company 
of Mary. further heritage displays are 
planned for the future. 

a significant milestone was 
achieved in November 2010 with the 
Dedication of the Mary potter Chapel 
in honour of the foundress of the 
little Company of Mary, venerable 
Mary potter. the Dedication Mass 
was celebrated by Bishop Michael 
Malone of the Maitland Newcastle 
Diocese and included representatives 
from the National leadership team of 
little Company of Mary Health Care. 

Mission integration is an important 
component of life at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle. the orientation of new 
staff includes a mission and values 

session that introduces the staff to 
little Company of Mary Health Care 
and our values. the session includes 
a short DvD presentation and an 
interactive segment which provides 
staff with the opportunity to discuss 
the values and to ask questions. over 
95% of staff found the session to be 
educational and informative. 

ethical practice and research are 
an integral part of mission at CMN 
and the re-formed Clinical ethics 
Committee commenced meeting 
monthly in January 2011. Guided 
by Catholic ethical teaching the 
Committee’s task is to review and 
approve applications for clinical trials, 
to provide educational opportunities 
for staff on ethical issues and to review 
ethical decisions. the Committee 
worked closely with Hunter New 
england Human research and ethics 
Committee to ensure that the approvals 
process for clinical trials continued 
to function as efficiently as possible. 
the first ethics forum was held in 
July 2011 and was a presentation 
on donation after cardiac death. 

Mission 
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in consultation with Hunter New 
england Human research and 
ethics Committee (HNHreC) 
and the plunkett Centre for 
ethics, the hospital’s Clinical 
ethics Committee was re-
established in December 2010. 

the new draft terms of reference 
were approved by the Hospital 
Management Committee 
and little Company of Mary 
Health Care National Mission 
and ethics Committee.

a joint information forum for 
researchers and interested staff 
was held on 24 february 2011 
to explain the role and function 
of the ethics Committee and the 
application and approvals process 
for clinical trials and research 
to be conducted at CMN. 

Changes to the Membership 
of the Clinical Ethics 
Committee were as follows:
the following members were 
appointed to the Committee:

alison lee acting Director of Medical 
Services CMN as acting Chair person

Kevin Mulligan Director of Mission, 
CMN

Dr aidan foy associate professor, 
General Medicine, CMN; Chairman, 
Medical Staff Council

Dr tim Stanley Staff Specialist, iCU, 
CMN; executive member Medical 
Staff Council 

Dr John Cavenagh Staff Specialist, 
palliative Care, CMN 

elizabeth Milligan Deputy Director of 
Social work, CMN

Maria McDonald Nursing 
representative, CNS, Haematology, 
CMN

Mary ringsted pastoral Care 
Manager, CMN

fr Barry tunks Chaplain CMN, vicar 
General, Catholic Diocese of Maitland 
Newcastle

wayne Dever lawyer, MrM lawyers, 
Mayfield 

Dennis Carroll theologian and 
ethicist: School of theology and 
religious Studies University of 
Newcastle.

paula watts  laywoman (previous 
Committee member)

Clinical Ethics Committee
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a staff survey, produced by Best 
practice australia (Bpa) and overseen 
by the Human resources (Hr) 
staff, was undertaken in March and 
april 2011 seeking feedback from 
employees on a range of issues. 
forty nine of 93 attributes measured 
by the survey showed improvement, 
reflecting a more positive response 
overall from staff, compared to when 
the survey was last undertaken in 
2009. the survey results also showed 
a 5% increase in staff engagement 
with the organisation and a 7% 
decrease in disengagement. in 
particular, staff felt more positive 
about their conditions of employment 
and their satisfaction with their 
manager and hospital management in 
general.

as changes were made to lCMHC’s 
and Calvary Mater’s websites, the 
Human resources Department 
took the opportunity to review 
its recruitment processes and to 
establish an electronic advertising 
and application lodgement process. 
rather than lodging handwritten 
applications by mail or in person, 
candidates for vacant positions 
now submit their application forms, 
resumes and covering letters 
electronically, using forms on 
the hospital’s website (and also 
accessible from the lCMHC national 
website and other industry sites 
such as SeeK.com). the change 
has allowed greater control over 

the receipt and distribution of 
applications during the selection 
process and will more easily 
accommodate any future move to a 
full e-recruitment process.

the pay office has continued 
to provide excellent services to 
employees with Calvary Mater staff 
continuing to have wage adjustments 
processed and payment summaries 
issued more quickly and more 
smoothly than staff in other public 
hospitals across NSw. this has 
occurred despite other demands 
including:

•  implementing a number of award 
changes;

•  continuing to provide Kronos 
training to department managers

•  overseeing the first payments 
under the federal Government’s 
Commonwealth paid parental 
leave (Cppl) scheme; and

•  attending system development 
meetings and training for the 
introduction of a new payroll and 
Hr information System (frontier’s 
“Chris 21” system) within the next 
few months.

along with lCMHC, CMN has been 
awarded an employer of Choice 
citation by the equal opportunity for 
women in the workplace agency 
(eowa). the hospital has again been 
offered a waiver from annual reporting 

to eowa and will not have to submit 
another report until May 2013. 
waivers are only offered to employers 
who have shown commitment to, and 
compliance with, eowa requirements 
for at least the last three years.

employees have continued to 
benefit from the improvements 
to hospital buildings and campus 
grounds over the last few years. 
lost time injuries decreased from 
23 in 2009/10 to 13 in 2010/11 and 
workers Compensation claims costs 
reduced by over 20% from $171,000 
to $135,000 over the same period. 
those staff members unfortunate 
enough to suffer injury or illness while 
at work continue to receive swift and 
appropriate care with a focus on 
returning them to their normal duties 
as soon as possible.

a number of employees have also 
been supported through vocational 
training to gain qualifications in 
their chosen fields. all Clinical 
Support officers, as well as other 
interested administrative staff, 
have enrolled in the Certificate iii 
in Health administration and all the 
hospital’s pharmacy technicians 
have enrolled in the Certificate iii in 
pharmacy Support. the hospital has 
also advertised an aboriginal cadet 
position in nursing for a nursing 
undergraduate to commence in the 
new financial year.

Human Resources 
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Hospital staff are committed to 
ensuring that patients receive the 
best possible care by striving to 
continually improve patient safety 
and the processes associated with 
care delivery. to ensure that patients 
receive the best possible level of care 
the hospital continues to monitor, 
report and benchmark a number of 
indicators that flag the effectiveness 
of the care systems. During 2010/11 
the hospital reported the performance 
of over 57 clinical indicators to 
the aCHS and 50 indicators were 
reported as performing within or 
better than the aCHS rate.

the hospital submitted a ‘self-
assessment’ report to the 
australian Council on Healthcare 
Standards (aCHS) on the 22nd 
September detailing progress 
toward the completion of the four 
year assessment process and 
actions to address the eight new 
recommendations from organisation 
wide Survey (aug 2009). preparation 
continues for the aCHS periodic 
review Survey site visit scheduled for 
1st to 3rd November 2011.

the Clinical education & training 
institute accreditation survey was 
conducted on 8th March 2011. the 

hospital was awarded three years 
accreditation for Junior Medical 
officer training. During 2011 the 
hospital was also awarded five years 
accreditation for basic physician 
training by the royal australian 
College of physicians and five years 
accreditation as a radiation oncology 
site by the royal australian and New 
Zealand College of radiologists.

CMN continues to support continuous 
improvement methodology and 
has participated in various State 
initiatives, such as, the NSw Health 
Quality Systems assessment, the 
detection of the deteriorating patient 
Between the flags DeteCt program 
and the patient flow System NSw 
Health redesign program. the Mater 
also continues to participate in a 
number of internal and Hunter New 
england Health collaborative projects 
including, finalisation of the Garling 
recommendation implementation. 

we continue to promote a patient 
safety culture and participate in the 
broader reporting and benchmarking 
activities of the little Company of 
Mary Health Care faculties. four root 
Cause analysis (rCa) investigations 
were commissioned during 2010/11 
to investigate significant adverse 

Quality
events and seven recommendations 
have been implemented with four 
recommendations in the process 
of being implemented. the hospital 
continues to recognise that prompt 
response to customer feedback is 
important. information compiled from 
Hunter New england Health showed 
that we acknowledged and resolved 
complaints in a timely manner when 
compared with little Company of 
Mary Healthcare and NSw Health 
benchmarks.

to ensure the hospital remains 
responsive to the community and 
patient needs, we continue to 
actively seek customer feedback 
by participating in the NSw Health 
satisfaction surveys and the press 
Ganey patient satisfaction surveys 
for inpatients, day-only inpatients, 
emergency non admitted patients 
and outpatient services. overall 
these patients scored the hospital 
care higher than the state average 
across all aspects of care. the Day 
Surgery Unit and Medical Centre 
were identified as ‘Best in their peer 
Groups’ by NSw Health (in particular 
patient categories), with both units 
receiving an overall care rating of 
over 80%. 



Calvary Mater NewCaStle  •  review of operatioNS • 2010/2011  • 21

this year the public affairs and 
Communications Unit has again been 
involved in many hospital projects, 
providing advice on internal and 
external communication, media 
management, publishing, fundraising 
and events both within, and outside 
the hospital.

we continue to provide a service to 
assist staff and the community in 
their public relations and stakeholder 
endeavours. the unit’s pr officer, 
laura Jackel went on maternity 
leave and returned to the United 
Kingdom in September 2010 and 
amber pengilley was appointed to 
the position at the end of September 
2010. amber has performed her role 
exceptionally and is a valued member 
of staff. a big thanks to our volunteer, 
Maggie Sulman, for her great work 
and continued support in all that we 
do in the unit.

we enjoy our involvement in many 
hospital projects and continue to 
lend our expertise across hospital 
business. 

Events
•  25 years of radiation oncology in 

the Hunter region

•  Hunter Business Chamber – My 
business is your business

•  world’s Greatest Shave 

•  inaugural event ‘Mini fields of 
pink’ 

•  the Hospice Community arts 
project 

•  the Hair Ball 2010 – raising 
$65,000 

•  Cancer Council’s Biggest Morning 
tea

•  10 year Celebration of Coalfields 
fundraising 

•  National volunteer Day – westpac 
rescue Helicopter Base

•  Dry July 2010

•  the Japan earthquake appeal

•  Celebration of Service 2010

•  Multi-Cultural Health awareness 
week

•  Guest speaking engagements – 
Kahibah travelling Bowlers Club, 
Cancer Council volunteer Course 

•  volunteer Christmas party

• Hospital tours 

•  Department Managers’ forums

•  Hospital orientation program

•  opening pathology display

Publications 
the role of the unit is to assist in the 
compilation, editing and publishing 
of the hospital’s brochures, booklets 
and written materials. Staff are always 
grateful for assistance and have been 
complimentary about the support 
provided by the Unit.

•  Mater Matters – 23 Newsletters

•  Meditation Support Group 
brochure

•  wig Service information Kit update

•  on hold telephone updates 

•  annual report

•  Understanding Breathlessness 
booklet

•  Community transport brochure

Volunteers
volunteers continue to provide great 
support to patients, visitors and staff. 
our volunteers provide a friendly service 
each day to the hospital community in 
all aspects of hospital life. 

volunteering is part of the fabric of CMN 
and our volunteers continue to embrace 
our values on a daily basis of ‘being for 
others’.

the volunteers at CMN participate 
in administration, ward work, the 
bereavement program, palliative 
care, and the wig service. volunteers, 
including the Cancer Council and 
auxiliary, worked 15,250 hours this 
financial year. this figure is not 
inclusive of the volunteer hours that 
the auxiliary members work within 
community fundraising.

Volunteer Projects 
•  Hospice fig tree program

•  wig Service

•  Conducted three in-house 
meetings for volunteers with guest 
speakers

•  National volunteer week – off site 
seminar

•  volunteer Christmas party and 
‘thank you’ event

•  Cancer Council volunteer training 
course 2011

Public Affairs and Communications 
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Fundraising
The Hair Ball 2010
public affairs & Communications 
managed a large percent of the 
hospital’s donations this year. 
the figure is aside of monies 
raised at the Hair Ball in 2010 
which raised approx. $70,000. 

Sincere thanks to the Hair Ball 
organising Committee ingrid 
Grenell, rod Grenell, terese 
Cullen, Janne McKay, Kerrie 
Chapman, Greg puxty, Howard 
edwards and amber pengilley. 

Calvary Mater Newcastle 
Auxiliary
Calvary Mater Newcastle Hospital 
auxiliary continues its fundraising 
work for the hospital raising over 
$200,000 this year. their tireless 
work within the community is to be 
commended once again for breaking 
all previous years fundraising 
records.

the hospital nominated president 
Glad Dent for the Newcastle 
Citizen of the year award and the 
nomination was a success with Glad 
achieving the prestigious award. 
we congratulate Glad on this well-
deserved accolade.

we also express our thanks to the 
group’s members for their continued 
fundraising and hard work achieved 
this year. testament to the groups’ 
dedication was their recent award 
at the United Hospitals auxiliary 
Conference this year, where they 
were awarded the Sir Norman Nock 
rose Bowl trophy for most money 
raised per member in a country area 
– a great achievement indeed.

the auxiliary made the following 
important purchases for the benefit 

of the patients and to assist staff 
in their provision of care across the 
hospital.

Chapel Sound System $3,931.81

Cadd pumps $18,200.00

Medical Centre wheelchair Scales  
 $1,851.00

3 resuscitation trolleys $9,300.00

wound Healing Machine $29,900.00

palliative Care roho Cushions 
 $4,236.00 

endoscopic equipment for theatres  
 $18,000.00

Chemotherapy Chair $7,000.00

Hospice Crockery and Sound System

for figtree programme $732.25

Chairs oncology ward $2,941.40

toiletries for ward 4 $112.20

observation Machines for 20 Beds)  
 $18,333.70

Blanket warmer oncology  
 $10,583.00

wig library  $1,000.00

total amount $126,121.36
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The KO Surf Classic
this is the sixth year that the Ko Surf 
Classic event has raised funds to 
support the hospice. the commitment 
by a dedicated group of fundraisers 
has helped the hospice to buy 
outreach equipment helping to deliver 
better care from hospice to home. 

this year we again thank this 
committed group of keen surfers who 
run this event. the continued support 
and popularity of this event is a credit 
to the organisers and to those who 
attend it to raise funds. the funds 
raised through this event helps to 
make our job easier in being able to 
provide enhanced patient care to those 
who use the hospice service and its 
outreach service. we thank all involved.

The Gloucester Villa  
Units Trust
the Gloucester villa Units trust 
Group has been a keen supporter of 
the hospital over the past eight years. 
the group was founded by a group 
of people who used the villa units to 
enable them to continue their cancer 
treatment at the hospital. the group 
has done a wonderful job in providing 

much needed items to improve 
patient accommodation at the villas.

for health and other reasons the 
group has now folded, however 
we are very appreciative of the 
support they have provided over 
the years  enhancing the comfort 
at the villas by providing funds 
to upgrade this unique service 
for people from country areas 
who stay away from home whilst 
undergoing treatment for cancer. 

we would like to thank the community 
of Gloucester whose deep pockets 
and initiative have served many 
of our patients well. particular 
mention to Margaret Mason, Bev 
Hadfield and Helen rooke for their 
dedication in the organisation 
of raising funds for the villas.

Coalfields Cancer  
Support Group
in March 2011, General Manager 
Colin osborne and research team 
members went to Cessnock to 
thank and present an award to the 
Coalfields Cancer Support Group 
for its ongoing commitment to the 
researchers of CMN. in 2000 some 

Cessnock residents saw the need 
to raise money for cancer research. 
all of the members either had 
cancer or had lost a loved one to 
the disease. the group reached its 
ten year milestone in 2010/11 and 
we acknowledged this milestone at 
Cessnock Council Chambers. 

Cessnock Mayor, alison Davey was 
in attendance to thank the group 
whose membership comprises of 
locals from the Cessnock area. the 
hospital also took the opportunity to 
nominate president, Mrs Marie Main 
for her contribution to the region’s 
cancer research efforts. Mrs Main 
was successful and is now Cessnock 
Citizen of the year.

our sincere thanks to this group’s 
endless generosity and ongoing 
commitment to cancer research. 
we are now well placed to 
provide better research equipment 
for our researchers in their 
pursuits of better treatment and 
potentially a cure for cancer. 
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Health Information Services

electronic health records 
development and management 
has resulted in many challenges 
with regard to management of the 
paper and electronic aspects of 
documented clinical care. Some very 
commendable outcomes have already 
been achieved. 

Much work has been in progress 
in collaboration with Hunter 
New england Health to enhance 
communication between treating 
health care professionals and sites 
via electronic systems. electronic 
communications with Gps have 
been in place for a number of years 
in various forms, however we are 
now moving towards implementing 
secure messaging systems to replace 
fax based systems, allowing Gps to 
import these documents directly into 
their practice management systems.

CMN has been the first large tertiary 
referral oncology and haematology 
site in NSw to implement electronic 
chemotherapy ordering which is a 
great achievement and testimony 

to the success of the hospital’s 
partnership with Hunter New england 
Health to implement the aria system.

the Clinical application portal 
(Cap) widely used by clinicians is 
continuing to evolve with plans in 
place to soon include parts of the 
Medical oncology, Haematology and 
radiation oncology aria records. 
planning is also underway for 
palliative Care to commence using 
the aria system.

the Microsoft outlook email 
system migration from Groupwise 
was successfully completed and 
congratulations must go to it staff 
who worked hard to ensure that this 
change went smoothly. 

the Clinical information Department, 
patient Services and Medical Centre 
office have continued to work 
tirelessly to keep up with increasing 
demands and increases in workload. 

it is hoped that in the very near 
future increased reliance on 
electronic systems will mean that 

no longer will the hospital need 
to receive hard copy pathology 
and imaging results which are 
easily accessible via the now well 
embedded computer systems. 

the Clinical Coding Unit has 
worked to consolidate coding skills 
at a high level in order to meet 
the demands of an increasingly 
casemix-funded environment. 
tight coding deadlines are 
managed well within the resources 
available and the dedication of 
staff in this area is evident.

the most significant staffing 
changes within the service during 
this period were the departure of 
Marc archer, Network Manager and 
appointment of Kerri Doyle to the 
patient Services Manager position. 
our sincere thanks goes to Marc 
for his significant efforts and we 
welcome Kerri as she navigates 
her way through a busy new role.
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this year we have welcomed 
dietitians Janis Kwan, Jessica 
thodas and anne Scott to the 
department. their contribution 
to patient care, the development 
and review of nutrition guidelines, 
community nutrition support 
group education and supervision 
of dietetic students is significant. 
acknowledgement goes to our 
team of dietetic assistants, 
ranine Siv, Suzie Collins, Dianne 
Kennedy and Cass Christodoulides. 
their contribution to nutrition 
care is greatly valued by both 
our patients and dietitians. 

the department continues to 
evaluate and question practice. 
in early 2010 a retrospective 
chart audit evaluating the 
standard practice of prophylactic 
percutaneous endoscopic 
Gastrostomy (peG) placement in 
head and neck cancer patients 
receiving combined chemo-
radiation treatment (2006-2009) 
was undertaken. in total, 70 medical 
charts were audited and initial 
findings have encouraged us to seek 
funding to examine outcomes over a 
greater time frame.

this year NSw Health drafted a 

Nutritional Care policy, a policy 
directive to enable inpatients in 
NSw Health facilities to receive 
adequate and appropriate nutrition 
care. in addition as part of the 
aCHS accreditation, nutrition was 
included as a new eQuip criterion. 
Such developments are encouraging 
for dietitians who have advocated 
for improvement to nutrition 
care in hospitals for a long time. 
Subsequently at CMN, a Nutrition 
working Group was established 
in february 2010, with its main 
objective to promote a coordinated 
multidisciplinary approach to the 
provision of nutrition care.

in early 2010 a Head & Neck Cancer 
Support Group, the first such group 
in NSw, was set up to educate 
and support patients through their 
cancer treatment and recovery 
journey. the group is the initiative 
of oncology clinicians working in 
dietetics, speech pathology and 
social work. these clinicians realised 
there was a need for head and neck 
cancer patients to share experiences 
and have the opportunity to be 
better informed. the group has been 
very well received by patients, their 
families and carers. 

Nutrition & Dietetics 

Speech Pathology 
this year the department has 
continued its participation in the 
international Dysphagia Quality 
assurance program, and has 
increased its involvement with the 
NSw evidence Based practice Group. 
we have also been working with our 
colleagues across australia through 
online interest groups in different 
areas of clinical interest.

an important project this year has 
been participation in the Head and 
Neck Cancer Support Group. this 
has been a very successful project, 
meeting some of the needs of 
complex patient caseload. Staff have 
also been heavily involved in the local 
clinical interest groups, with consistent 
attendance as well as presenting to 
these groups on a regular basis.  

over the coming year, the department 
is looking forward to continuing its 
association with the University of 
Newcastle through the activities of the 
Student Unit. we are also looking to 
review our input with head and neck 
cancer patients to provide a more 
comprehensive service to these people.
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throughout 2010/11 CMN’s 
pharmacy retained its patient focus 
through quality activities aimed at 
both improving patient outcomes 
and contribution to the most cost 
effective use of resources. this result 
is achieved through the commitment 
and teamwork demonstrated by all 
members of the pharmacy.

the pharmacists are involved in:

•  counselling patients/patient carers 
about medications. 

•  working with clinicians to ensure 
the quality use of medicines within 
the hospital. 

•  delivering medication-oriented 
talks to specialist interest groups 
within the community.

Staff members actively participate 
in hospital, area network, national 
committees, specialist clinical teams 
and numerous clinical trials. 

the pharmacy maintains its 
involvement in the National Medication 
Safety initiatives and participates in 
periodic audits associated with the 
National Medication Chart. 

CMN pharmacy has collaborated on 
a number of projects with Newcastle 
University and NSw taG. these 
projects include:

1.  the evaluation of the information 
contained on patient discharge 
summaries

2.  targeted education of JMos 

working in the discipline of 
medicine with the view to improve 
the quality of information contained 
in discharge summaries

3.  evaluating medical staff awareness 
of the admission medication 
history form

4.  education of JMos with respect 
to how to maximise the use of 
the admission medication history 
form with the view of optimising 
patient care 

5.  participation in a pilot project 
aimed at improving prescription 
writing. pharmacists conduct 
regular tutorials with final year 
medical students on a one to one 
basis. the aim of this project is to 
determine the resources required 
to maintain this educational 
component on an ongoing basis.

the pharmacy continued its role in 
student education by supervising 
postgraduate students from Newcastle 
University. the introduction of the 
University of Newcastle’s Master 
in pharmacy course has generated 
a large teaching commitment for 
all Mater pharmacists and we are 
responsible for supervising students 
from both years on a rotating basis. 

as a result of the opening of the 
emergency short stay unit, the 
pharmacy department gained a 
grade two pharmacist. this valuable 
resource has been well utilised by the 
emergency department.

the business case for outsourcing of 
targeted chemotherapy was signed 
off by little Company of Mary Health 
Care towards the end of this financial 
year. the outsourcing of targeted 
chemotherapy will commence early in 
the 2011/12 financial year following 
intensive education of staff and patients.

the oncology and haematology 
pharmacy staff continue to work with 
the Hunter New england information 
technology Support and Development 
Department on the electronic 
chemotherapy chart (the aria project). 
the aria system is proving beneficial to 
all users (doctors, nurses, pharmacists, 
clerical and administrative staff).

four CMN pharmacy technicians are 
currently undertaking a Certificate 
iii course in hospital/health services 
pharmacy support. Grants from NSw 
State training authority were allocated 
to the technicians. CMN pharmacists 
attended a number of SHpa courses 
this year to consolidate their 
knowledge in a range of pharmacy 
practice areas and which will mean 
they can now apply their new skills to 
their clinical practice at the CMN.

the pharmacy remains committed 
in its support for medical 
research and is actively involved 
in more than 50 trials. 

Pharmacy
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the occupational therapy 
Department throughout 2010/11, 
has continued to provide a range of 
services across the hospital, as well 
as participate in quality activities and 
student supervision. 

the ‘Meditation Group’, for 
oncology patients and their carers 
has continued to meet weekly and 
receives positive feedback from 
all those who have participated. 
this group is facilitated jointly by 
occupational therapy and Social 
work, and has been held nearly every 
friday morning since 1998.

in 2010 a new inpatient group, jointly 
facilitated by occupational therapy and 
physiotherapy was trialled in ward 5B 
(oncology). the ‘Meaningful Movement’ 
group has been such a success that it 
is run daily with other ward areas also 
trialling their own groups. 

the oncology loan pool has 
provided aids of daily living to scores 
of patients to help them and their 
families manage serious illnesses 
in their own home environment. 
expansion of this service continues 
to be a goal of occupational therapy 
staff, especially in the area of 
pressure care management.

Staff have continued their 
professional development throughout 
the year with attendance at 
conferences, inservices and local 
education days, including:

-  australasian allied Health and 
Nursing Smart Strokes Conference

-  Hunter occupational therapy 
education day

-  allied Health research forum
-  whole Body Symposium and 

Conference
-  resilience workshop
-   rural occupational therapists forum

-  Haematology education Day

occupational therapy week held each 
year in the last week of october was 
celebrated with a special breakfast at 
three Bean expresso Café in Hamilton 
and staff participated in Hunter ot 
week celebrations.

the department would like to 
congratulate a former CMN 
occupational therapy staff member Dr 
Natasha lannin, now a senior lecturer 
at the rehabilitation Studies Unit, 
and a current fellow of the Cerebral 
palsy institute. Natasha started her 
occupational therapy career here at 
CMN as a new graduate in 1997.

in 2010, Dr lannin was awarded 
the worington lecture by the 
australian faculty of rehabilitation 
Medicine for her research in 
advancing rehabilitation medicine. 
Congratulations Dr lannin!!

Occupational Therapy 

the 11 members of the social work 
department continue to provide a 
comprehensive social work service 
to patients, their families and carers. 
increased funding to the social work 
department this year has enabled us 
to provide a social work service to 
the Medical assessment Unit (MaU) 
and a full time social work service 
to the emergency Department with 
the funding of social work in the 
emergency Short Stay Unit (eSSU).

Social work staff work closely with 
medical, nursing, allied health and 
other support staff of the hospital to 
provide a multidisciplinary approach 
to patient care. Social workers in 
particular are responsible for attending 
to emotional and psychosocial needs 
of patients, families and carers at 
CMN. this year, these have included 
direct counselling related to dealing 
with adjustment issues, trauma, grief 
and loss, the provision of specialised 
meditation and support group 
programs, discharge planning, social 
support services, advocacy with 
government and other agencies to 
access services has been successful 

this year – we are pleased with the 
outcomes in these areas of expertise.

Social work staff have continued 
to provide representation of the 
department, allied health and the 
hospital on a range of committees 
both within the hospital and within a 
range of stakeholder and community 
groups this year including social 
work in aged care, social workers in 
emergency care, HNe Stroke interest 
Group, Newcastle Domestic violence 
Committee, Haemophilia Social 
workers and Counsellors Group, 
Clinical oncology National oncology 
Group, CoSa Neuro oncology Group, 
and the Cancer Council regional 
advisory Committee.

this year, our social workers 
have contributed significantly to a 
range of workshops and forums by 
participating in organising committees 
and presenting papers of interest to 
specialist groups. 

Staff have been active in the 
development of and updating of 
resources including input in the 
development of patient resources 

for those living with malignant brain 
tumours, paediatric guidelines in 
radiotherapy, resources to assist 
in the care of patients who have 
suffered strokes, resources for 
patients who have a dementia, and 
bereavement resources in all clinical 
areas of the hospital.

Social work staff continue to provide 
assistance to the Cancer Council in the 
training of volunteers working in the 
Cancer Council information Service at 
the hospital. our social workers have 
also been actively involved in facilitating 
a range of group programmes within 
the hospital including Cancer Support 
Group, Meditation Group, Bereavement 
walking Group and the falls 
Management program. all programs 
are supported by the social work 
department and are free to patients, 
families and carers.

this year saw the commencement of 
the monthly Head and Neck Cancer 
Support Group, a joint project 
involving Social work, Dietetics and 
Speech pathology. 

Social Work
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the most significant event for our 
department this year has been the 
farewelling of Sr Kath williams from 
her ministry of over 20 years.

Kath worked tirelessly for our 
patients, their families and carers, 
and for our staff. ever mindful of 
the impact of illness on the lives of 
each of us, Kath responded faithfully 
and with great compassion to the 
need for emotional and spiritual 
support, a listening ear and at times 
an uncompromising advocate. Her 
preparedness to stand by anyone 
who was struggling, as a witness to 
all things Mercy, ensured our tradition 
of care continued to be valued and 
translated into the daily activity of 
our clinical areas. Her presence is 
missed, but her legacy still permeates 
the wards in which she worked.

an afternoon tea of farewell testified 
to the place of respect and influence 
Kath held at the hospital, as did the 
sumptuous feast prepared with love 
by the auxiliary. 

New staff has meant new ideas and 
energy, and so some significant 
initiatives have occurred this year.

we have been more directly involved 
in the ethical agenda of this hospital 
and the local health district through 
representation on the Calvary 
Mater ethics Committee and the 
Community, University, ethics, Health 
and law Committee.

we continue to work with colleagues 
in providing education through a 
variety of programmes including: 
Grand rounds, Clinical pastoral 
education (both at CMN and at John 
Hunter Hospital), rN Certificate 
in palliative Care, Certificate iv in 
palliative approach, new graduate 
rN programme, medical student 
programmes, ot student programme, 
Stepping Stones: Diocesan 
programme for ministry to the sick, 
dying and bereaved.

our contribution to national pastoral 
care initiatives includes: publication 
of CHa booklet, pastoral services in 
Catholic health, community and aged 
care; meeting with CHa in developing 
a paper to present to the australian 
Bishops’ Conference on the Challenges 
of pastoral Care; ongoing work of the 
lCM pastoral Care Co-ordinators’ 
Committee in policy development, 
education and professional standards 
and hosting of Spiritual Care australia 
(Hunter Branch) gathering during 
pastoral Care week 2010.

as our involvement in initiatives 
across our professional horizon 
continues to grow, we are ever 
mindful that all of our efforts must 
result in greater care for the pastoral 
and spiritual needs of our patients 
and those who care for them. 
they are the ones to whom we are 
ultimately accountable.

Pastoral Care 

the physiotherapy department 
has had another successful year. 
we have improved our ties with 
the University of Newcastle by 
assisting with recruitment of 
patients for a study investigating 
acute lung injury following iCU 
admission. other joint research 
ventures with the University 
include a surface eMG activity 
following neck dissection and a 
study investigating the effect of 
physiotherapy on shoulder function 
after accessory nerve injury post 
neck dissection. we have also 
taken a number of clinical units for 
both the University of Newcastle 
and University of Sydney.

in 2011, we have had the 
great privilege to expand our 
physiotherapy services to 
the emergency Department 
and the Mental Health 
Unit. this has resulted in 
improved holistic patient care 
and has provided a more 
multidisciplinary team approach 
to patients in these areas.

the Hunter Breast Cancer 
foundation recently funded 
the purchase of two flowtron 
compression pumps with sleeves, 
which has enabled us to service 
lymphoedema patients better at 
home. other generous donations 
from the community have allowed 
other equipment purchases to 
benefit lymphoedema patients 
such as a camera, printer and bio-
impedance equipment.

we continue to provide an 
invaluable service to all ward and 
outpatients through individualised 
assessment and treatment, 
and by involving patients in 
groups. these groups include 
lymphoedema Management 
Group, Mindful Movement 
(inpatient group) and the falls 
Clinic and Conditioning Class.

Physiotherapy 

Pastoral Care team with Sr Kath Williams
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   2008/09  2009/10 2010/11

Bed Capacity

 total Beds (average available) 176 187 172

 General Hospital Beds (average available)* 156 170 155

Patient Details - Admitted Patients

 patients in hospital at 1 July 179 161 159

 total admissions 12549 12484 14123

 total Separations 12567 12495 14129

 patients in hospital at 30 June  161 159 153

Occupied Beddays 59063 55639 58360

Available Beddays  64340 59151 62753

Number of Operations  3609 3122 3206

Daily Average of Admitted Patients  161.8 152.4 160.6

Average Length of Stay of Admitted Patients 4.7 4.5 4.4

Bed Occupancy Rate  91.8% 94.1% 93%

Caseflow Rate ** 71.3% 77.1% 82.2%

Emergency

 Number of attendances 25344 30366 30627

 Number of admissions via emergency 7536 7579 9297 
 (included in total admissions figure)

Non-Admitted Patient Occasions of Service 296730 325661 305868

Community Health Occasions of Service*** 23165 26267 26729

Total Staff Employed 30 June (General Fund) 820 840 870

Note: 2010/11 figure includes eSSU staffing

*  General Hospital Beds (average available) excludes HoSpiCe Beds

** Caseflow rate = separations/available beddays x days in period

*** Community Health 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11
 alcohol & Drug 5440 4793  4543
 Melanoma Unit 5451 6159  6219
 palliative Care outreach 14408 13973  14058
 Hospital in the Home 1738 1742 1909
 total 27037 26667 26729

Activity & Statistical Information
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Year in review
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Hospitality

Stewardship
Healing Respect
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Research and Teaching Report

Calvary Mater Newcastle (CMN) 
research Committee acts as 
a representative of all CMN 
researchers, providing a means of 
disseminating information and offering 
support for research activities. the 
main responsibility of the Committee 
is to oversee the annual awarding of 
research funding through the various 
CMN funding schemes.

funding for CMN research activities 
has continued to be provided by 
generous donations from family 
and friends of our patients, as well 
as specific fundraising through 
the hospital’s ‘wig week’, local 
support from the Coalfields 
Cancer Support Group, and 
ongoing bequests established in 
the memory of Margaret Mitchell, 
Jane reid Harle and James 
lawrie. this has resulted in the 
awarding of $148,578 in research 
and equipment grants for 2011. 

the Committee would like to thank 
the following members whose 
valuable and much appreciated 
contributions came to an end during 
2010/11:

A Message from the Research Committee

•  Judith Gavrili, Dept of Medicine, 
administrative assistant

•  Dr alison Maclean, Director of 
Medical Services (Medical), Clinical 
academic representative 

•  Dr Kerrie Clover, Centre for Mental 
Health Studies, palliative Care 
representative

the Committee would also like to 
welcome the following new members 
and recognise their important 
contributions to the committee:

•   Kylie Murchie, Dept of 
occupational therapy, 
administrative assistant

•  Dr anthony proietto, area Director 
of Cancer Services

Dr lisa lincz 
Chairperson
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RESEARCH GRANTS
the CMN research Committee received 13 
applications for funding in 2011. Seven of these were 
requests for project grant funding (requesting a total 
of $180,586 from a pool of $115,000) and six were 
eligible for equipment funding (requesting a total of 
$114,018 from a pool of $54,000 from the Coalfields 
Cancer Support Group fund). a total of $96,451 
in project and $52,127 in equipment grants were 
awarded. two projects were eligible for the James 
lawrie Grant ($30,000) and one was recommended 
for full funding. overall, five applications received 
full funding and four received partial funding. Due to 
dwindling funds, there was no Margaret Mitchell grant 
awarded. there remains $1,873 in the Coalfields 
equipment fund and $8,549 in the James lawrie fund 
that will be held over for allocation next year. 

all grants were independently reviewed and ranked 
by three assessors, all of whom were external from 
the CMN research Committee. in addition, the two 
James lawrie Grant applications were also assessed 
by two Head and Neck Cancer specialists, as per 
the terms of reference for this grant. None of the 
assessors were listed as investigators on any of the 
grant applications. all assessors agreed on the final 
rankings and determined the allocation of funds 
against the individual bequest criteria. 

The Research Committee would like to acknowledge 
and thank the assessors for their time and 
commitment to providing expert scientific reviews 
and invaluable advice for funding distribution.

the successful applications were:

JANE REID HARLE MEMORIAL RESEARCH 
GRANT SCHEME ($45,000)

Jennette Sakoff, Lisa Lincz, Medical oncology, 
Haematology. Anti-oxidant modification of leukocyte 
telomere dynamics ($22,000)

Dr Colin Tang, Peter Greer, radiation oncology, 
pHART (prostate Hypofractionated Accelerated 
Radio Therapy) - Phase II randomised study of 
image-guided hypofractionated radiotherapy 
for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer 
incorporating the use of endorectal balloons 
($23,000)

WIG WEEK RESEARCH GRANT AWARD 
($30,000)

Li Hua Chen, Xu Dong Zhang, oncology & 
immunology Unit, Targeting prosurvival mechanisms 
to Sensitise Human Melanoma to Immunotherapy 
($15,000)

Li Dong , Xu Dong Zhang, oncology & immunology 
Unit, ASPPs in regulation of chemosensitivity in 
human melanoma cells ($15,000)

JAMES LAWRIE HEAD AND NECK CANCER 
GRANT FUND ($30,000)

Kristie Harrison, Patricia Ostwald, Medical 
physics, radiation oncology, Clinical Evaluation 
of electron and photon junctions with dynamic 
intensity modulation for head and neck treatments 
($21,451)

COALFIELDS CANCER SUPPORT GROUP 
EQUIPMENT AWARDS ($54,000)

Peter Greer, Colin Tang, radiation oncology, 

MatriXX ion-chamber array for research into real-
time patient dose verification during complex and 
rotational radiotherapy fields ($25,574) 

Fiona Scorgie, Lisa Lincz, Hunter Haematology 
research Group, Funding Request for Freezer 
Alarms and Installation ($4050)

Lisa Lincz, Fiona Scorgie, Hunter Haematology 
research Group, Upgrading Office Computers for 
the Hunter Haematology Research Group ($3461)

Dr Jayne Gilbert, Jennett Sakoff, Madhu Garg, 
Medical oncology, Essential inverted microscope 
and digital imaging equipment for visualisation of 
cancer cells ($19,042)

RESEARCH IN 
HAEMATOLOGY  
2010-2011
the Haematology Unit engages in both clinical and 
laboratory based research. Clinicians and nurses are 
actively involved in research directed at improving 
patient care, while the department also supports 
dedicated laboratory and clinical trials teams. the 
Staff Specialists are committed to providing quality 
training to haematology registrars. Many of the staff 
hold conjoint appointments with the University of 
Newcastle and engage in teaching undergraduate 
medical students and supervising biomedical 
student projects. the unit is fortunate to have strong 
community support and is grateful for all the generous 
donations received in 2010-11.

HAEMATOLOGY CLINICAL TRIALS
Clinical Trial Coordinators: Michele Gambrill, 
Tara Novak, Marguerite Hughes William 
Whitbread-Brown
Administrative Officer: Patricia Rozanski

over the past year the Haematology clinical trials 
office has screened 262 patients of which we have 
recruited 81 new participants to 11 currently enrolling 
trials and have a total of 119 participants currently 
entered onto trials with 21 participants in active 
treatment and a further 98 participants in follow up. 
the open trials cover a wide range of haematological 
conditions both in acute and chronic diseases. 

there were 23 open trials (including those open to 
recruitment and those closed to recruitment but 
with participants either on treatment or in follow up) 
being managed in 2010/11, 12 administered by 
the australasian leukaemia and lymphoma Group 
(allG), 11 sponsored by pharmaceutical companies 
and/or investigator initiated. 

in addition to meeting requirements for the laboratory 
components for the majority of the trials, the 
department also coordinates and actively contributes 
tissue samples to the allG tissue bank. in 2010 – 
2011, the team was responsible for donating 308 
samples from 41 tissue collections. this important 
initiative ensures that researchers have access to 
quality tissue samples and treatment data from 
patients enrolled in trials all around australia and 
New Zealand.

BONE MARROW STEM CELL TRANSPLANT 
RESEARCH
Philip Rowlings, Hong Zhang, Linda Bissett, 

Geordie Zaunders
in an ethics approved review study the Stem Cell 
transplant laboratory has now processed several 
volunteers using the new technology of a fully 
closed and semi automated stem cell processing 
method, the SepaX device. testing on this device 
is being performed to enhance the quality and 
safety of adult bone marrow stem cells to be used 
in therapeutic trials.

the Hunter Haematology Unit continues to be a 
contributing member of the Centre for international 
Blood and Marrow transplant research (CiBMtr) 
based in wisconsin USa. patient transplant data 
are also reported to the australian Bone Marrow 
transplant recipients registry (aBMtrr) as part of 
australian BMt research and development. associate 
professor rowlings is also a member of the Scientific 
Committee of asia pacific BMt Group, to which local 
data is submitted via the aBMtrr

CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKAEMIA DATABASE
Philip Rowlings, Hong Zhang
a new database has been established to study 
patient, disease and treatment related factors and 
their relationship to patients’ quality of life and survival. 
although there are a large number of clinical trials in 
australia which have studied and continuet to study 
CMl patients, due to the restrisction of eligibility 
criterai not all patients are treated on trials. this 
database will enable studies such as a comparison 
of outcomes between patints treated on or off clinical 
trials.

MULTIPLE MYELOMA RESEARCH
Nadine Berry, Anoop Enjeti, Kerry Fagan, Lisa 
Lincz, Rodney Scott and Philip Rowlings
New techniques to detect chromosomal abnormalities 
in patient samples are being trialled in collaboration 
with the Division of Genetics HapS (pathology North), 
and Signature Genomics in the USa. exciting new 
studies are underway looking at genetic markers 
of multiple myeloma and the related premalignant 
diagnosis monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined 
significance (MGUS). 

LABORATORY RESEARCH - THE HUNTER 
HAEMATOLOGY RESEARCH GROUP
Lisa Lincz, Fiona Scorgie, Linda Bissett

the Haematology research laboratory conducts 
studies into haematological cancers and disorders 
of coagulation, with a primary interest in circulating 
microparticles. the laboratory is linked to the 
University of Newcastle and offers tuition and 
scholarships to encourage students to enter this area 
of research. there are presently three phD students 
associated with the lab. in addition, the research staff 
are responsible for the processing of blood samples 
from CMN patients who participate in clinical trials and 
donate tissue to the allG tissue Bank. the group 
maintains strong collaborations with researchers both 
nationally (School of Human life Sciences, University 
of tasmania) and locally with the departments of 
Neurology (JHH) toxicology (CMN), Medical oncology 
(CMN) and Cancer research (U of Newcastle). 

RESEARCH FUNDING

2011- 2013. NH& MrC project grant iD# 
1011649. role of tenascin-C and tlr-4 in carotid 
atherosclerosis related stroke. p Clancy, S Koblar, l 
lincz. $297,524

2011. HMri project Grant. How chronic psychological 
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distress leads to premature aging. e Nalivaiko and l 
lincz, $24,800

2011. CMN Jane reid Harle Memorial Grant 
Schemes, anti-oxidant modification of leukocyte 
telomere dynamics. J Sakoff, l lincz. $22,000

2011. CMN Coalfields Cancer Support Group. 
funding request for freezer alarms and installation. f 
Scorgie and l lincz, $4050

2011. CMN Coalfields Cancer Support Group. Upgrading 
office Computers for the Hunter Haematology research 
Group. l lincz, f Scorgie. $3461

2010 -11. HMri Specialised grant for diabetes 
research. pathogenic function of plasma CD36 
Microparticles in Mediating Complications of type 2 
Diabetes r thorne, l lincz. $100,000

2010. Maitland Cancer appeal, Grant for leukaemia 
research for Hunter Haematology research Group. p 
rowlings, l lincz $50,000

CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS  
(PRESENTING AUTHOR UNDERLINED)
lf lincz (invited Speaker) 6th Congress of asia 
pacific Society on thrombosis and Haemostasis, 
‘Coagulopathy related to snake venoms’ Grand Hyatt-
Nusa Dua, Bali, indonesia, 13 – 16 october, 2010

l.f lincz, f. Scorgie a enjeti, M Seldon Circulating 
platelet Microparticle levels Correlate with %fvl in 
Carriers of fvl. Haa 2010, 17-20 oct, auckland, NZ 
poster presentation Awarded best laboratory study

l.f lincz, f. Scorgie, M. phang, M.l. Garg , a 
enjeti, M Seldon. platelet microparticle profile and 
aggregation in healthy males and females. Haa 2010, 
17-20 oct, auckland, NZ poster presentation 

f. Scorgie, l.f lincz, Syed S, fahim M, Karunathilake 
H, abeyasinghe C, Maduwage K, o’leary M, Seldon 
M, isbister G. Clotting studies and factor defiencies 
in Sri lankan russells viper envenoming. Haa 2010, 
17-20 oct, auckland, NZ poster presentation

J Gordon, r prasad, a thant, r Hensen, a enno. 
How often does Bone Marrow Staging change early 
to advanced stage follicular lymphoma and can this 
be predicted? . Haa 2010, 17-20 oct, auckland, NZ 
poster presentation

r Hensen , J Gordon, a thant, a enjeti. assessing 
the prognostic utility of CD68+ staining of tumour-
associated macrophages in classical Hodgkin 
lymphoma.. Haa 2010, 17-20 oct, auckland, NZ 
poster presentation

Louisa Bray, p Cheung, C Jordens, M Seldon, ip 
Kerridge. long Haul: the experience of bone marrow 
transplant patients from regional australia.. Haa 2010, 
17-20 oct, auckland, NZ oral presentation

victoria Milliken , presentation at the annual 
australasian apheresis Conference

Nadine Berry, Megan paleologos, philip rowlings, 
anoop enjeti, Kerry fagan ‘MyeloMa - ifiSH 
v’s Karyotype and the future’ - aSoC adelaide, 
South australia, 25 – 27 March 2011, Poster/2min 
presentation 

Nadine Berry, Megan paleologos, philip rowlings, 
anoop enjeti, Nicole Bain, victoria Cawich, Caitlin 
valentin, Kerry fagan. ‘MyeloMa - ifiSH v’s Karyotype 
and the future’. Signature Genomics laboratories, June 
2011, washington, USa.. oral presentation

ADVISORY BOARD MEMBERSHIP
Cathie Milton , National advisory board on the 
development of guidelines for the administration of 
vidaza

Debbie Carr, National advisory board on the 
development of guidelines for the administration of 
vidaza; National MDS advisory board 

philip rowlings, Scientific advisory Board of the asia 
pacific Bone Marrow transplant Group (apBMt) and 
co-Chair of the planned 2011 apBMt Congress in 
Sydney.

PUBLICATIONS
1.  isbister GK1,2,3, Scorgie fe4, o’leary Ma2, 

Seldon M4, Brown SGa5, lincz lf4, for the 
aSp investigators. factor deficiencies in venom 
induced consumption coagulopathy resulting 
from australian elapid envenomation. J thromb 
Haemost 2010 Nov;8(11):2504-13 

2.  phang M, Sinclaire aJ, lincz lf, Garg Ml. Gender-
specific inhibition of platelet aggregation following 
omega-3 fatty acid supplementation Nutr Metabo 
Cardiovas 2010 aug 11 [epub ahead of print] 

3.  lacroix r, robert S, poncelet p, Kasthuri rS, Key 
NS, Dignat-George f; iStH SSC workshop (l lincz 
listed among 58 collaborators). Standardization 
of platelet-derived microparticle enumeration 
by flow cytometry with calibrated beads: results 
of the international Society on thrombosis and 
Haemostasis SSC Collaborative workshop. J 
thromb Haemost. 2010 Nov;8(11):2571-4. 

4.  McGettigan p 3, lincz lf 4,7, attia J 2,5,6,7, Mcelduff 
p 5,7, Barrie Stokes2, Bissett l 4,7, peel r 5,7, 
Hancock S 5,7, Henderson K 2 , Seldon M 2,4 , 
Henry D1,2. the risk of coronary thrombosis with 
cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors does not vary with 
polymorphisms in two regions of the cyclo-
oxygenase-2 gene. J Clin pharmacol 2011 Mar 3 
[epub ahead of print] 

5.  alkhatatbeh M, N. Mhaidat, a. enjeti, l. f lincz, 
r. thorne. the putative diabetic plasma marker, 
soluble CD36, is non-cleaved, non-soluble and 
entirely associated with microparticles. J thromb 
Haemost apr;9(4):844-51 

6.  Golledge J, Clancy p, Maquire J, lincz l,, Koblar 
S, the role of tenascin C in cardiovascular disease. 
Cardiovascular research (accepted June 2011) 

7.  lincz lf, enjeti a, Scorgie fe, Seldon . variable 
plasma levels of factor v leiden correlate with 
circulating platelet microparticles in carriers of 
factor v leiden. thrombosis research (accepted 
June 2011) 

8.  phang M; lincz, lf; Seldon M, Garg Ml acute 
supplementation with eicosapentaenoic acid 
reduces platelet microparticle activity in healthy 
subjects. Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry 
(Accepted June 2011)

9.  Bray l, Jordens CfC, rowlings p, Bradstock K, 
Kerridge i. the long haul: Caring for bone marrow 
transplant patients in regional australia. australain 
Journal of advanced Nursing. (In Press)

10.  Uppanal N and enjeti a K. primary lymphoma of 
Uterus and Cervix: 2 Case reports and review of 
literature. australasian J of obs Gyn (in press)

MEDICAL ONCOLOGY 
RESEARCH UNIT
the Medical oncology Department has a very active 
research unit which conducts both laboratory and 
clinical research. the Medical oncology research 
Unit is made up of clinicians, scientists, nurses and 
clinical trial coordinators dedicated to the improved 
management of patients with cancer and the 
advancement of cancer treatment. 

MEDICAL ONCOLOGY CLINICAL TRIALS UNIT: 
Clinical Trials CNC/ Supervisor: Kim Adler
Clinical Trial Coordinators: Sue Brew, Vicki 
Clarke, Catherine Johnson, Gail Walker, Erica 
Vitullo, Sarandar Kumar, Kirrilee Askew, Megan 
Livingston & Louise Plowman.
Administrative/ Finance Officer: Alison Leonard 
–England
Trial Treatment Unit Nurses: Elaine Barrett & 
Lyn Holz
the last 12 months has been a challenging time for 
our trial unit with the increasing waiting times for 
medical oncologist appointments. However, the past 
year the medical oncology trials unit has offered 62 
patients the opportunity to participate in a clinical trial. 
of these, 25 patients have gone on to enroll in a trial. 
we currently have 16 trials open to recruitment and six 
waiting for ethics/ Governance approval. of the trials 
currently recruiting there is a mixture of phase i, ll & 
lll cooperative group and pharmaceutical sponsored 
studies, one investigator initiated study. we currently 
have 88 patients on trial treatment and 201 patients in 
follow up. 

this year has involved a great deal of staff changes. 
we farewell and thank three staff members Deanne 
Johnson, rebecca Chenery and ashley powell and 
welcome our four new staff members to our team. 
Kirrilee askew, Megan livingston & louise plowman 
are our new Clinical trial Coordinators and elaine 
Barrett is our new trial treatment Nurse. as part of 
their training we have established a weekly Clinical 
trial education forum to ensure ongoing education in 
the field of clinical trails and oncology.

the trials team is also involved in an ongoing informed 
consent project aimed at improving the process of 
informed consent for patients on clinical trials. the 
project identifies deficits in patients understanding 
of their trial which assists the trial team in reinforcing 
information that is lacking. 

as part of our ongoing commitment to research and 
ethics the Medical oncology trials Unit has a clinician 
and clinical trial coordinator on the HNeHreC clinical 
trials subcommittee and a clinical trial coordinator on 
the HNeHreC main committee.

MEDICAL ONCOLOGY EXPERIMENTAL 
THERAPEUTICS GROUP: 
Chief Hospital Scientist: Dr Jennette Sakoff, 
Hospital Scientists: Dr Jayne Gilbert and Madhu 
Garg
Technical Officer: Ms Alesia Ogrodnik
the research productivity of the experimental 
therapeutics group in medical oncology has continued 
to expand over the past year particularly in the 
development of small molecules for the treatment of 
cancer. our well established collaborations with prof 
adam McCluskey from the Univeristy of Newcastle, 
Dr Megan Chircop and prof phil robinson from 
the Children’s Cancer research institute NSw, 
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continues to expand and now includes Dr Nigel 
Jones and prof terrence o’Brien from the University 
of Melbourne. the focus of this team has been the 
development of novel dynamin inhibitors for the 
treatment of glioblastoma. this project has secured 
numerous national and international research grants 
and produced significant research results. Numerous 
small molecules are now undergoing animal xenograft 
studies to determine efficacy. the efforts of the 
group have now expanded internationally to include 
professor volker Hauke from Germany and Dr 
Stephen royle from the UK in the development of 
novel clathrin inhibitors for the treatment of cancer, 
culminating in the recent Cell publication.

in a recently completed a pharmacokinetic and 
pharmacodynamic clinical trial in colorectal cancer 
patients at the CMN hospital, Dr Sakoff in collaboration 
with prof Stephen ackland and Dr lisa lincz identified 
telomere length as a strong predictor of chemotherapy 
induced blood toxicity. this biomarker discovery has 
now formed the basis of a new clinical research project 
with professor Manohar Garg from the University of 
Newcastle, to examine the role of nutraceuticals on 
telomere biology in colorectal cancer patients. Mr 
Mohamad Ghiba has now joined this research team as 
part of his phD candidature. 

JOURNAL PUBLICATIONS:
robertson MJ, Gordon Cp, Gilbert J, McCluskey 
A, and Sakoff JA. Norcantharimide analogues 
possessing terminal phosphate esters and their anti-
cancer activity. Bioorg. Med.Chem. accepted 2011. 
february 1st .

tarleton M, Gilbert J, robertson MJ, McCluskey a 
and Sakoff JA. library synthesis and cytotoxicity of 
a family of 2-phenylacrylonitriles and discovery of an 
estrogen dependent breast cancer lead compound. 
Medicinal Chemistry Communications. 2, 31-37, 
2011. 

Campbell B e, tarleton M, Gordon Cp, Sakoff JA, 
Gilbert J, McCluskey a, Gasser rB. Norcantharidin 
analogues with nemotocidal activity in Haemonchus 
contortus. Bioorganic Medicinal Chemistry letters. 
2011 Jun 1;21(11):3277-81.

Chircop M, perera S, Mariana a, lau H, Ma MpC, 
Gilbert J, Jones NC, Gordon Cp, young Ka, 
Morokoff a, Sakoff JA, o’Brien t, McCluskey a, 
and robinson pJ. inhibition of dynamin by dynole 
34-2 induces cell death following cytokinesis failure 
in cancer cells. Molecular Cancer therapeutics. 
accepted 2011.

Garg MB, Sakoff JA, Ackland SP. a simple HplC 
method for plasma level monitoring of mitotane 
and its two main metabolites in adrenocortical 
cancer patients. J Chromatography B. 2011 aug 
1;879(23):2201-5. 

von Kleist l, Stahlschmidt w, Bulut H, Gromova K, 
puchkov D, robertson MJ, K, MacGregor Ka, tomlin 
N, pechstein a, Chau N, Chircop M, Sakoff J, von 
Kries J, Saenger w, Kräusslich H-G, Shupliakov o, 
robinson pJ, McCluskey a, and Haucke v. essential 
role of the clathrin terminal domain in regulating 
coated pit dynamics revealed by small molecule 
inhibition. Cell, 2011, 146, 471-484.

Garg MB, Ackland SP. pyridoxine to protect 
from oxaliplatin-induced neurotoxicity without 
compromising antitumour effect. Cancer Chemother 
pharmacol. 2011 apr;67(4):963-6.

tebbutt, N. C., wilson, K., Gebski, v.J., Cummins, 
M.M., Zannino, D., van Hazel, G.a., robinson, B., 
Broad, a., Ganju, v., Ackland, S.P., forgeson, G., 
Cunningham, D., Saunders, M.p., Stockler, M.r., 
Chua, y., Zalcberg, J.r., Simes, r.J. & price, t.J. 
Capecitabine, Bevacizumab and Mitomycin in first-
line treatment of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: 
results of the australasian Gastrointestinal trials 
Group randomized, phase iii MaX Study. J. Clin. 
oncol. 2010. 28(19):3191-8. 

Goldstein, D., Gainford, M.C., Brown, C., tebbutt, 
N. and Ackland, S.P. fixed-dose rate gemcitabine 
combined with Cisplatin in patients with inoperable 
biliary tract carcinomas. Cancer Chemother. 
pharmacol. 2011. 67(3):519-525.

vilain, r.e., Dudding, t., Braye, S.G., Groombridge, 
C., Meldrum, C., Spigelman, a.D., Ackland, S., 
ashman, l., Scott r.J. Can a familial gastrointestinal 
tumour syndrome be allelic with waardenburge 
syndrome? Clin. Genet. 2011. 79:554-560.

Day F, Bull J, Lombard J, Stewart J. Changes in 
Medical oncology admissions for the Management 
of Breast Cancer Complications: an australian 
institution’s experience. apJCo volume 7, issue 2, 
June 2011, pages: 146–153.

RESEARCH GRANTS:
fabbro M. and Sakoff J.A. Dynamin inhibitors as 
new anticancer drugs. NSw Cancer Council 531702. 
(2009-2011) $336,000.

Gilbert J, Sakoff JA, Garg M (2011) essential 
inverted microscope and digital imaging equipment 
for visualisation of cancer cells. Coalfields equipment 
Grant $19, 042.

Sakoff JA and lincz l. anti-oxidant modification 
of leukocyte telomere dynamics. Jane reid Harle 
Memorial Grant. Calvary Mater Newcastle. $22,000. 
(2011).

Chircop M, Sakoff J, Jones N, McCluskey. 
Dynamin as a new drug target for the treatment of 
glioblastoma. NSw Cancer Council rG-11-03, (2011-
2013). $360,000

McCluskey a, robinson p, o’Brien t, Chircop M, 
Sakoff J. Development of pthaladyn-based dynamin 
i-selective inhibitors for treatment of epilepsy. NHMrC 
Dp1017063. (2011-2013) $650,000.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS:
Bringing Together Knowledge and Practice 
in Clinical Trials: A Study of Cancer Clinical 
Research Nurses in Australia K.Scott1, K. white1, 
C. Johnson2 1faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, 
University of Sydney, Sydney, NSw, australia 2Calvary 
Mater Hospital, Newcastle, NSw, australia. CNSa 
winter Congress (presentation) 29-31 July 2010

Education, Knowledge and Skills for Clinical 
Trials Management: A Survey of Clinical 
Research Nurses in Australia. J.K. roydhouse1,2, 
K. Scott1,2, K. white1,2,3, C. Johnson4 ; 1Sydney 
Nursing School, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSw, 
australia 2Sydney Cancer Centre, royal prince alfred 
Hospital, Sydney, NSw, australia 3School of Nursing, 
Midwifery and postgraduate Medicine, edith Cowan 
University, Joondalup, wa, australia 4Calvary Mater 
Hospital, Newcastle, NSw, australia. australasian 
Health and research Data Managers annual Scientific 
Meeting, Melbourne (presentation and poster) 17 
March 2011

Recruitment and practicality issues in obtaining 
specimen at source. Catherine Johnson, Calvary 
Mater Hospital, Newcastle. CoSa annual Scientific 
Meeting November 2010 -presentation as invited 
speaker:

Quality of informed consent in clinical trials. 
Catherine Johnson, Calvary Mater Hospital, 
Newcastle, . 12th annual Scientific meeting of the 
australasian gastro-intestinal trials Group (aGitG) 
Consumer advisory panel. September 2010. – 
presentation as invited speaker

Sakoff, J.A. telomere length as a predictor of 
chemotoxicity in colorectal cancer. Xvth world 
Congress on Clinical Nutrition. ain el Sokhna, egypt, 
2010. invited speaker.

Sakoff, J.A. the role of nutraceuticals on 
chemotherapy induced haematological toxicity in 
cancer patients. Science of Nutrition in Medicine 
Conference, Sydney, 2011. invited Speaker.

CONFERENCE POSTERS: 
Sakoff JA, Garg MB, Adler K, Scorgie fe, lincz lf, 
and Ackland SP. Short telomeres in pBMNC predicts 
for haematological toxicity in colorectal cancer patients 
treated with 5fU. Sydney Cancer Conference 2010. 

RADIATION ONCOLOGY AND 
MEDICAL PHYSICS
JOURNAL ARTICLES
andreyev, H.J.N., wotherspoon, a., Denham, J.w., 
Hauer-Jensen, M. “pelvic radiation disease”: New 
understanding and new solutions for a new disease 
in the era of cancer survivorship (2011) Scandinavian 
Journal of Gastroenterology, 46 (4), pp. 389-397. 

ansbacher w, Swift C-l., Greer pB, an evaluation of 
cine-mode 3D portal image dosimetry for volumetric 
Modulated arc therapy, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 250, 
012022, 2010 

Baumann, M., Hölscher, t., Denham, J., fractionation 
in prostate cancer - is it time after all?(2010) 
Radiotherapy and Oncology, 96 (1), pp. 1-5. 

Dempsey C, Methodology for commissioning a 
brachytherapy planning system in the era of 3D planning, 
Australas. Phys. eng. Sci. Med, 33(4): 341-349, 2010

Denham, J.w., Steigler, a., lamb, D.S., Joseph, 
D., turner, S., Matthews, J., atkinson, C., North, J., 
Christie, D., Spry, N.a., tai, K.-H., wynne, C., D’este, 
C., Short-term neoadjuvant androgen deprivation and 
radiotherapy for locally advanced prostate cancer: 
10-year data from the troG 96.01 randomised trial 
(2011) The Lancet Oncology, 12 (5), pp. 451-459.

Dowling J, lambert J, parker J, Greer pB, fripp 
J, Denham Jw, ourselin S, Salvado o, automatic 
Mri atlas-based external beam radiation therapy 
treatment planning for prostate cancer, Lecture Notes 
in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture 
Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in 
Bioinformatics) 6367 lNCS, pp. 25-33, 2010

Hugh Dunstan, r., Sparkes, D.l., Macdonald, M.M., 
roberts, t.K., wratten, C., Kumar, M.B., Baines, S., 
Denham, J.w., Gallagher, S.a., rothkirch, t. altered 
amino acid homeostasis and the development of 
fatigue by breast cancer radiotherapy patients: a 
pilot study (2011) Clinical Biochemistry, 44 (2-3), pp. 
208-215. 
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ebert, M.a., lamb, D.S., Joseph, D.J., Steigler, a., 
Denham, J.w., a methodology for the analysis of 
pSa response signatures (2011) Radiotherapy and 
Oncology, 98 (2), pp. 198-202. 

ebert Ma, Harrison KM, Howlett SJ, Cornes D, 
Bulsara M, Hamiton CS, Kron t, Joseph DJ, Denham 
Jw, Dosimetric intercomparison for multicenter clinical 
trials using a patient-based anatomic pelvic phantom, 
Medical Physics, 38(9), 5167-5175, 2011.

Greer pB and vial p, “epiD Dosimetry,” in “Concepts 
and trends in Medical Dosimetry”, eds a rosenfeld 
aB; Kron t; Derrico f; et al, Book Series: aip 
Conference proceedings volume: 1345 pages: 129-
144 Doi: 10.1063/1.3576163, 2011

Greer pB, Dowling J, lambert J, fripp J, parker 
J, Denham Jw, wratten C, Capp a, Salvado o et 
al. an Mri-based workflow for prostate radiation 
therapy planning, Medical Journal of Australia, 
194(4):S24-S27, 2011 

Hatton J, Greer pB, parker J, tang C, Capp a, 
wratten C, Denham Jw, Does the planning dose 
volume histogram represent treatment doses in 
prostate radiotherapy: a cone-beam Ct study, 
Radiother. Oncol. 98(2): 162-168, 2011 

Kumar, M., Denham, J.w., Steigler, a., value of 
combined androgen blockade in the neoadjuvant 
treatment of localized prostate cancer: the jury must 
remain out(2010) Journal of Clinical Oncology, 28 
(25), pp. e445-e446.

lamb, D.S., Denham, J.w., Joseph, D., Matthews, 
J., atkinson, C., Spry, N.a., Duchesne, G., ebert, M., 
Steigler, a., Delahunt, B., D’este, C., a comparison of 
the prognostic value of early pSa test-based variables 
following external beam radiotherapy, with or without 
preceding androgen deprivation: analysis of data from 
the troG 96.01 randomized trial (2011) International 
Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics, 79 
(2), pp. 385-391. 

lambert J, Greer pB, Menk f, patterson J, parker J, 
Dahl K, Gupta S, Capp a, wratten C, tang C, Dowling 
J, Hauville S, Hughes, C, fisher K, ostwald p, Denham 
Jw, Salvado o, Mri guided prostate radiation therapy: 
investigation of accuracy of Mri-based dose planning, 
Radiother. Oncol., 98:330-334, 2011 

Matthews JH. Burmeister BH. Borg M. Capp al. 
Joseph D. thompson KM. thompson pi. Harvey 
Ja. Spry Na t1-2 anal carcinoma requires elective 
inguinal radiation treatment--the results of trans 
tasman radiation oncology Group study troG 
99.02., Radiotherapy & Oncology. 98(1):93-8, 2011 

Millar eKa, Graham pH, McNeil CM, Browne l, o’toole 
Sa, Boulghourjian a, Kearsley JH, papadatos G, 
Delaney G, fox C, Nasser e, Capp a and Sutherland 
ra, prediction of outcome of early erþ breast cancer is 
improved using a biomarker panel, which includes Ki-67 
and p53, Brit. J. Cancer, 1-9, 2011

oultram S, findlay N, Clover K, Cross l, ponman l, 
adams C. a comparison between patient self-report and 
radiation therapists’ ability to identify anxiety and distress 
in head and neck cancer patients requiring immobilization 
for radiation therapy. Journal of Radiotherapy in Practice 
published online: 24 June 2011.

Clover, C, oultram S, , adams C, Cross l findlay N, 
ponman l, Disruption to radiation therapy sessions 
due to anxiety among patients receiving radiation 

therapy to the head and neck area can be predicted 
using patient self-report measures. Psycho-Oncology 
published online:27 Sept 2010.

rowshanfarzad p, Sabet M, o’Connor DJ, Greer 
pB, verification of the linac isocentre for stereotactic 
radiosurgery using cine-epiD imaging and arc 
delivery, Medical Physics, 38(7), 3963-3970, 2011.

rowshanfarzad p, Sabet M, o’Connor DJ, Greer pB, 
reduction of the effect of non-uniform backscatter 
from an e-type support arm of a varian a-Si epiD, 
Phys. Med. Biol. 55: 6617-6632, 2010 

Seymour el, Downes SJ, fogarty GB, izard Ma, 
Metcalfe p, invivo real-time dosimetric verification 
in high dose rate prostate brachytherapy, Medical 
Physics, 38(8), 4785-4794, 2011

RESEARCH GRANTS 
NHMrC project Grant
Jw Denham, a Steigler
optimal duration of neoadjuvant androgen deprivation 
therapy in localised prostate cancer
2007-2011, $399,565

NHMrC project Grant
Jw Denham, D Joseph, G Duchesne, J Ball
value of androgen deprivation and bisphosphonate 
therapy in patients treated by radiotherapy for limited 
prostate cancer
2007-2011, $2,403,440 

NHMrC project Grant
p. Greer, J. Denham, C. Baldock and Z. Kuncic
investigation of a new imaging device for radiation 
therapy dose delivery verification
2009-2011, $393,411

NHMrC project Grant
a. fielding, B. Burmeister, p. Metcalfe, p. Greer, p. 
evans and J. trapp
improving patient outcomes of radiotherapy 
treatments
2009-2011, $356,375

Cancer australia priority Driven Collaborative Cancer 
research Grant
ebert Ma, Joseph DJ, Haworth a, Denham Jw,Spry 
N, Bydder S
enhanced development of generic digital tools for 
support of clinical trials and education in radiotherapy
2009-2011, $585,750

NHMrC enabling Grant 
D. Ball, p. o’Brien, B. Burmeister, G. Duchesne, D. 
Joseph, J. Denham
Clinical trials resources: trans tasman radiation 
oncology Group 
2006-2012, $1,765,000

prostate Cancer foundation of australia
Galvão Di; Newton r, Spry N, taaffe D, Denham Jw
population-based exercise intervention for prostate 
cancer patients
2009-2012, $476,024

Cancer Council NSw project Grant
pB Greer, BMC McCurdy, C. Baldock, Z Kuncic, Jw 
Denham
real-time dose monitoring for patient safety in 
radiotherapy
2010-2012, $360,000

Cancer Council NSw project Grant
l. ashman, N. verills, J. Denham
tetraspanin proteins in prostate cancer progression 

and prognosis
2009-2011, $341,000

Cancer Council NSw project Grant
pB Greer, J Dowling, Jw Denham, o Salvado, 
Does the initial treatment plan predict doses delivered 
to normal tissues during prostate radiation therapy, 
Cancer Council NSw, 
2011-2013, $349,794

Cancer Council NSw project Grant
p vial, Z Kuncic, pB Greer, C Baldock, l Holloway, 
M Barton, 
a next generation detector for radiotherapy treatment 
verification with dual capability for simultaneous 
imaging and dosimetry, Cancer Council NSw, 
2011-2013, $336,125

Cancer institute NSw equipment Grant
pB Greer, p vial, a Capp, M williams, D Cornes, C 
tang, J Hatton
equipment to assess the accuracy of image-guided and 
advanced technology used in radiotherapy clinical trials
2010, $94,058

Cancer institute NSw equipment Grant
p vial, Z Kuncic, pB Greer, l Holloway, C Baldock, M 
Barton, institute 
Making radiotherapy safer and more accurate: 
Developing detector technology for the next 
generation in treatment verification system
2010, $198,000

CancerCare Manitoba foundation project Grant
B. McCurdy, S. pistorius, J. Butler, and p. Greer
adaptive radiotherapy incorporating patient 
Dosimetry feedback
2009-2011, $120,000

NHMrC equipment Grant
p. Moscato, pB Greer, r. Beretta, r. riveros, 
the pierre and Marie Curie GpU computing servers, , 
2011, $27,000

Calvary Mater Newcastle, James lowrie Head and 
Neck Cancer Grant
Kristie Harrison, patricia ostwald, Jackie patterson, 
ekta Jhala, Chris wratten
Clinical evaluation of electron and photon junctions 
with dynamic intensity modulation for head and neck 
treatments 
2011, $21,450

Calvary Mater Newcastle Coalfields research 
equipment Grant
pB Greer, C tang, Matrixx ion-chamber array for 
research into real-time patient dose verification during 
complex and rotational radiotherapy fields, 
2011, $25,471

Calvary Mater Newcastle Jane reid Harle research 
Grant
C tang, pB Greer, pHart (prostate hypofractionated 
accelerated radiation therapy) – phase ii randomised 
study of image-guided hypofractionated radiotherapy 
for low-and intermediate risk prostate cancer 
incorporating the use of rectal balloons, 
2011, $25,000

research infrastructure Block Grant (University of 
Newcastle)
S. Dempsey, N. findlay, C. Dempsey
funding for “rapid arc & Biological optimisation and 
evaluation Modelling, radiation therapy planning 
software licences and ra user training”. 
2010, $23,000
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Hunter Medical research institute
pB Greer
pulse early Career researcher of the year Grant
2011, $10,000

Hunter Medical research institute Scholarship
J. lambert
investigation of magnetic resonance imaging for 
prostate radiotherapy
2010-2011, $40,000

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS
lambert J, Dowling J, Menk f, parker J, Capp a, 
Denham Jw, Salvado o, Greer pB, Mr-Based dose 
calculation for prostate radiotherapy using atlas-
based auto-segmentation, aapM/CoMp, vancouver, 
Canada, July 31, 2011 

rowshanfarzad p, Sabet M, McCowan p, McCurdy 
BMC, o’Connor D, Greer pB, a new method for 
linear accelerator characterization for vMat using 
cine-epiD, aapM/CoMp, vancouver, Canada, July 
31, 2011 

King B, Morf D, Greer pB, investigation of a modified 
backscatter-shielded epiD dosimetry system for 
improved iMrt verification, aapM/CoMp, vancouver, 
Canada, July 31, 2011 

Blake S, vial p, Holloway l, Greer pB, Kuncic Z, an 
investigation into optical photon transport effects on 
electronic portal imaging performance using Geant4, 
aapM/CoMp, vancouver, Canada, July 31, 2011 
[John r Cameron, John r Cunningham young 
investigator Competition finalist]

Graham p, Millar e, Browns l, Capp a, fox C, 
Delaney G, Kearsley J, Nasser e, papadatos G, 
randomized trial shows reduced whole breast dose 
reverses benefit of lumpectomy radiotherapy boost, 
eStro 2010

Harrison K, ostwald p, patterson J, Jhala e, wratten 
C, Clinical evaluation of electron and photon junctions 
with dynamic intensity modulation for head and neck 
treatments, proceedings of epSM-aBeC, Melbourne, 
australia, December 6-9, 2010.

Hatton J, Greer pB, tang C, Capp a, parker J, wright 
p, wratten C, Denham Jw, accuracy of the planning 
dose volume histogram to predict delivered doses in 
image-guided prostate radiation therapy: assessment 
with cone-beam computerised tomography scans, 
proceedings of epSM-aBeC, Melbourne, australia, 
December 6-9, 2010.

Dowling J, lambert J, parker J, fripp J, Denham 
Jw, Capp a, Salvado o, Greer pB, atlas-based 
deformable image registration for Mri-guided prostate 
radiation therapy, proceedings of epSM-aBeC, 
Melbourne, australia, December 6-9, 2010.

King Bw, Clews l, Greer pB, Measured long-term 
stability of epiDs in clinical service, proceedings of 
epSM-aBeC, Melbourne, australia, December 6-9, 
2010.

lee CG, Menk f, Greer pB, Managing the backscatter 
component from the robotic arm of an a-Si epiD, 
proceedings of epSM-aBeC, Melbourne, australia, 
December 6-9, 2010.

CONFERENCE POSTERS
rowshanfarzad p, Sabet M, McCurdy BMC, 
McCowan pM, o’Connor DJ, Greer pB, investigation 
of the gantry and epiD sag during arc therapy for a 
varian trilogy linac, proceedings of epSM-aBeC, 

Melbourne, australia, December 6-9, 2010.

Sabet M, rowshanfarzad p, King Bw, Menk fw, 
Greer pB, Comparison of the image lag for an 
aS500 in direct and standard clinical configurations, 
proceedings of epSM-aBeC, Melbourne, australia, 
December 6-9, 2010

tehovnik t, Greer pB, ansbacher w, Metcalfe p, 
three-dimensional dose verification for iMrt using 
a-Si epiDs, proceedings of epSM-aBeC, Melbourne, 
australia, December 6-9, 2010

Dempsey C, lapuz C, o’Brien p, Capp a, Dosimetry 
of single, multi-channel intracavitary and interstitial 
HDr brachytherapy using 3D inverse planning, 
eStro, london, 2011

Greer pB, Hatton J, parker J, tang C, Capp a, 
Denham Jw, offline adaptive replanning for prostate 
cancer treatment: a dosimetric based model for the 
number of CBCt scans, eStro, london, 2011

McCowan p, rickey D, rowshanfarzad p, ansbacher 
w, Greer pB, McCurdy BMC, precise gantry angle 
determination for epiD images during rotational iMrt, 
aapM/CoMp, vancouver, Canada, July 31, 2011 

Chytyk K, van Uytven e, van Beek t, Greer pB, 
McCurdy BMC, physical model for in vivo dose image 
prediction, aapM/CoMp, vancouver, Canada, July 
31, 2011 

DEPARTMENT OF SURGICAL 
ONCOLOGY 
JOURNAL ARTICLES
Buzdar a, Cuzick J, Sestak i, Howell a, Dowsett M, 
Baum M, forbes Jf, ataC/latte investigators. ten-
year analysis of the ataC trial. aSCo Breast Cancer 
Symposium 2010; 256 (meeting abstract).

Cuzick J, Sestak i, Baum M, Buzdar a, Howell a, 
Dowsett M, forbes Jf on behalf of ataC/latte 
investigators. effect of anastrozole and tamoxifen 
as adjuvant treatment for early stage breast cancer: 
10-year analysis of the ataC trial. lancet oncol. 
2010;11(12): 1135-1141.

forbes Jf. overview and future perspectives of 
primary breast cancer. in: tai M, winer ep, eds. local 
and systemic management of primary breast cancers. 
Kyoto University press 2010; 3-17.

pinder Se, Duggan C, ellis io, Cuzick J, forbes Jf, 
Bishop H, fentiman iS, George wD (UKCCCr DCiS 
working party). a new pathological system for grading 
DCiS with improved prediction of local recurrence: 
results from the UKCCCr/aNZ DCiS trial. Brit.Jnl Ca 
2010; 103(1): 94-100.

tang G, Cuzick J, wale C, Costantino Jp, Crager 
M, Shak S, wolmark N, Dowsett M, forbes Jf. 
recurrence risk of node-negative and er-positive 
early-stage breast cancer patients by combining 
recurrence score, pathologic, and clinical information: 
a meta-analysis approach. J Clin oncol 2010;28(15 
Suppl): 509 (meeting abstract).

Colleoni, M, Giobbie-Hurder a, regan MM, 
thürlimann B, Mourisden H, Mauriac l, forbes Jf, 
paridaens r, láng i, Smith i, Chirgwin J, peinkowski 

t, wardley a, price KN, Gelber rD, Coates aS, 
Goldhirsch a. analyses adjusting for selective 
crossover show improved overall survival with 
adjuvant letrozole compared with tamoxifen in the BiG 
1-98 Study. J Clin oncol 2011; 29(9): 1117-1124.

Cuzick J, DeCensi a, arun, B, Brown pH, Castiglione 
M, Dunn B, forbes Jf, Glaus a, Howell a, von 
Minckwitz G, vogel v, Zwierzina H. preventive therapy 
for breast cancer: a consensus statement. lancet 
oncol. 2011; 12(5): 496-503.

Cuzick J, Sestak i, pinder Se, ellis io, forsyth S, 
Brundred NJ, forbes Jf, Bishop H, fentiman iS, 
George wD. effect of tamoxifen and radiotherapy in 
women with locally excised ductal carcinoma in situ: 
long-term results from the UK/aNZ DCiS trial. lancet 
oncol. 2011; 12: 21-29. 

Cuzick J, warwick J, pinney e, Duffy Sw, Cawthorn 
S, Howell a, forbes Jf, warren r. tamoxifen-induced 
reduction in mammographic density and breast 
cancer risk reduction: a nested case-control study. J 
Natl Cancer inst 2011; 103(9): 744-752. 

loi S, Symmans wf, Bartlett JM, fumagalli D, van’t 
veer l, forbes Jf, Bedard p, Denkert C, Zujewski 
J, viale G, pusztai l, esserman lJ, leyland-Jones 
Br. proposals for uniform collection of biospecimens 
from neoadjuvant breast cancer clinical trials: timing 
and specimen types. lancet 2011; early on-line 
publication June 20 (personal view).

Singh S, Cuzick J, Blake GM, Mesher D, patel r, 
truscott J, Coleman r, Howell a, forbes Jf, eastell 
r. one year effect of anastrozole and risedronate 
on bone mineral density: first results from the iBiS-ii 
bone sub-study. Bone 2011; 48(1) S1: S24-S24 
(meeting abstract)

valero v, forbes Jf, pegram D, peinkowski t, 
eiermann w, von Minckwitz G, roche H, Martin 
M,Crown J, Mackey Jr, fumoleau p, rolski J, Mrsic-
Krmpotic Z, Jagiello-Grusfeld a, riva a, Buyse M, 
taupin H, Sauter G, press Mf, Slamon DJ. Multicenter 
phase iii randomized trial comparing docetaxel 
and trastuzumab with docetaxel, carboplatin, and 
trastuzumab as first-line chemotherapy for patients 
with Her2-Gene-amplified Metastatic Breast Cancer 
(BCirG 007 Study): two highly active therapeutic 
regiments. J Clin oncol 2011; 29(2): 149-156.

viale G, regan MM, Dell’orto, Mastropasqua MG, 
Maiorano e, rasmussen BB, MacGrogan, forbes 
Jf, paridaens rJ, Colleoni M, láng i, thürlimann 
B, Mouridsen H, Mauriac l, Gelber rD, price KN, 
Goldhirsch a, Gusterson Ba, Coates aS. which 
patients benefit most from adjuvant aromatase 
inhibitors? results using a composite measure of 
prognostic risk in the BiG 1-98 randomized trial. 
ann. oncol. 2011; advanced access 18 february 
(doi:10.1093/annonc/mdq738).

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS
1 July to 31 December 2010
Breast Cancer Symposium (invited speaker)
presentation: “Hormonal therapy of postmenopausal 
women for 10 years: what change for 10 years?”
3 July – osaka, Japan

Breast Cancer Seminar (invited speaker)
presentation: “Current issues and future direction in 
hormonal therapy”
5 July - tsukubar, Japan

National Breast & ovarian Cancer Centre 
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Chemoprevention Meeting (invited speaker)
presentation: “perspective on the use of 
chemoprevention for women at increased risk of 
breast cancer due to family history”
9 July – Sydney, NSw

australian New Zealand Breast Cancer trials Group 
annual Scientific Meeting (Convenor & speaker)
presentation: “iBiS-ii, prevention, DCiS & Bone 
Substudy”
presentation: “aNZ 0501 (later)”
presentation: “aNZ 0901 (tailorx)”
presentation: “New NaBCG/NCi-BiG guidelines for 
neo-adjuvant trials: tissue handling”
presentation: “local therapy and neo-adjuvant trials, 
and implications for future aNZ BCtB research”
23-24 July – Sydney, NSw

Speaking tour (invited speaker)
3 x presentations: “evidence based optimisation of 
endocrine therapies for early breast cancer in pre and 
postmenopausal women”
11-12 august – Singapore

live webcasts: to latin america/Canada, and to asia 
pacific (invited speaker)
2 x presentations: “arimidex ataC 10 years”
16-17 September – london, UK

aromatase Meeting 2010 (invited speaker)
presentation: “prospects for prevention with 
aromatase inhibitors”
24-25 September – edinburgh, Scotland

South Swedish oncology Symposium (invited 
speaker)
presentation: “Breast Cancer Biology-lessons from 
clinical trials”
27 September – lund, Sweden

Breast Cancer Symposium (invited speaker)
presentation: “ataC – 10 years on….”
8 october – Milan, italy

CoSa & CCtGs/vCCC translational workshop 
(invited speaker)
presentation: “the evolution of the CCtG: what do 
the next 5 years hold?”
12 November – Melbourne, vic

1 January to 30 June 2011
lecture tour of turkey (invited speaker)
7 x presentations: “optimising endocrine therapy for 
postmenopausal women with early breast cancer”
7-11 March – istanbul, Denizli, ankara, and adana, 
istanbul

Kyoto Breast Cancer Consensus Conference (invited 
speaker)
presentation: “Biology and management of duct 
carcinoma in situ (DCiS)”
14-16 april – Kyoto, Japan

pacrim Breast & prostate Cancer Meeting (invited 
speaker)
presentation: “predictive biomarkers of effective 
endocrine therapy for breast cancer: clinical trial data”
3-7 May – Kingscliff, NSw

Gp lecture (invited speaker)
presentation: “St Gallen Consensus Conference 2011 
– new guidelines for early breast cancer management”
18 May – Charlestown, NSw

RESEARCH GRANTS
Department of Surgical Oncology

NSw Cancer trials Network Grant
Ci: forbes Jf
2008-2011: $116,900 pa

Competitive Research Grant funding supporting 
Australian New Zealand Breast Cancer Trials Group 
projects (University of Newcastle - CIA Professor 
John Forbes)

NHMrC project Grant 569213 (iBiS 2): a randomised 
phase iii trial of anastrozole for breast cancer 
prevention in postmenopausal women at high risk.
Chief investigators: forbes Jf, Coates a, Boyle f, 
Mann G, Saunders C, Cuzick J.
total awarded: 2009 – 2013 $1,635,000

NHMrC project Grant 510787 (later): prevention 
of late breast cancer (BC) events in postmenopausal 
women with endocrine responsive BC.
Chief investigators: forbes Jf, Mann G, Boyle f, 
Green M, Coates a, Cuzick J.
total awarded: 2008 – 2012 $4,430,875

NHMrC project Grant
follow-up of a randomised trial of tamoxifen or 
placebo for breast cancer prevention in high risk 
women (iBiS i).
Ci’s - forbes Jf (Cia), Coates a, Snyder r, Cuzick J.
2006-2010: $861,188

NHMrC project Grant
a clinical trial evaluating neoadjuvant chemotherapy 
for women with large operable or locally advanced 
breast cancer.
Ci’s – forbes Jf (Cia), Coates aS, friedlander M, 
McCarthy N, Boyle f, Green M.
2007-2010: $259,500

NHMrC project Grant
tailored treatments for premenopausal women with 
endocrine responsive breast cancer. 
Ci’s - forbes Jf (Cia), francis pa, Boyle fM, Chirgwin 
JH, Snyder rD, Coates aS.
2008-2010: $287,000

Competitive Research Grant funding supporting 
Australian New Zealand Breast Cancer Trials Group 
projects (other administering institutions or other CIA’s)

BCrf research Grant: aNZ BCtG High risk Bio-bank
Ci: forbes Jf
2009 – 2010 US$197,820

Cancer australia infrastructure
Ci: forbes Jf
2010-2013: $1,541,639

Cancer institute NSw (research Scholar Judy Jobling)
Mammographic density as a biomarker for the efficacy of 
treatment of endocrine therapies used to prevent breast 
cancer events in randomised controlled clinical trials.
Ci: forbes Jf
2010-2013: $55,016

University of Melbourne
NHMrC project Grant
Cognitive effects of adding ovarian function 
suppression to adjuvant hormonal therapy in 
premenopausal breast cancer.
Ci’s – forbes Jf, phillips K (Cia), francis p, Boyle f, 
Bernhard J, Maruff p.
2007-2011: $286,750

University of Queensland

NBCf Collaborative Breast Cancer research Grant
Novel strategies for prediction and control of 
advanced breast cancer via nanoscaled epigenetic-
based biosensors.
Cis – forbes Jf, trau M (Cia), Clark S, Brown M, 
francis G, Dobrovic a, Scott r.
2008-2012: $5,000,000 (University of Newcastle 
component - $1,250,000)

DEPARTMENT OF 
CONSULTATION-LIAISON 
PSYCHIATRY
RESEARCH
PUBLICATIONS IN PEER REVIEWED JOURNALS
1.  Maddock G, Carter Gl, Murrell e, lewin tJ, 

Conrad aM. Distinguishing suicidal from non-
suicidal deliberate self-harm events in women with 
Borderline personality Disorder. Australian and 
New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry June 2010; 
44:574–582

2.  Sankaranarayanan, a, Carter, G l. lewin, tJ. 
rural-Urban differences in suicide rates for current 
patients of a public mental health service in 
australia. Suicide and Life Threatening Behavior 
September 2010 40 (4): 376-382.

3.  Carter Gl, lewin tJ, Gianacas l, Clover K, adams 
C. Caregiver satisfaction with out-patient oncology 
services: Utility of the faMCare instrument and 
development of the faMCare-6. Supportive Care in 
Cancer 2011; 19 (4): 565-572 (online March 2010).

4.  Dassanayake t, Michie p, Carter G, Jones a. 
effects of benzodiazepines, antidepressants 
and opioids on driving: a systematic review of 
epidemiological and experimental evidence. Drug 
Safety 2011 34 (2): 125-156. 

5.  Jayasekera, Himali , Carter, Gregory and Clover, 
Kerrie. Comparison of the Composite international 
Diagnostic interview (CiDi-auto) with Clinical 
Diagnosis in a Suicidal population, Archives of 
Suicide Research, 2011. 15: 1, 43 – 55. 

6.  Hossein Hassanian-Moghaddam, Saeedeh Sarjami, 
ali-asghar Kolahi, Gregory Carter. postcards 
in persia: 12 month outcomes of a randomised 
controlled trial to reduce suicidal behaviours after 
hospital treated deliberate self-poisoning British 
Journal of Psychiatry 2011 198(4): 309-316. 

7.  Britton B, Clover K, Bateman l, odelli C, wenham 
K, Zeman a, Carter G. Baseline Depression 
predicts Malnutrition in Head and Neck Cancer 
patients Undergoing radiotherapy Supportive 
Care in Cancer (accepted January 2011).

8.  Carter G, Britton B, Clover K, rogers K, adams 
C, Mcelduff p. effectiveness of QUiCatoUCH: 
a computerised touch screen evaluation for pain 
and distress in ambulatory oncology patients in 
Newcastle, australia. (psycho-oncology accepted 
March 2011).

9.  page a, taylor r, Gunnell D, Carter G, Morrell S, 
Martin G. effectiveness of australian youth Suicide 
prevention initiatives. (accepted British Journal of 
Psychiatry June 2011).
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10.  Saha S, Scott J, Johnston a, Slade t, varghese 
D, Carter G, McGrath J. the association between 
delusional-like experiences and suicidal thoughts 
and behavior: a large population-based study . 
(accepted Schizophrenia Research June 2011)

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS
1.  Gregory Carter. Serotonin toxicity in man: the 

overdose model. in Symposium session: Genetic, 
receptor and other Molecular vulnerabilities to 
the Serotonin Syndrome and other Serotonin-
Based toxicities: from Mice to Humans and back 
. CiNp XXvii worlD CoNGreSS. abstract CD 
roM. 2010. S-34-001. the international Journal 
of Neuropsychopharmacology (2010), 13 : 1-268 
(pg 41) Cambridge University press. doi:10.1017/
S1461145710000635

2.  Gregory Carter. Suicide prevention in young 
people: Selected examples in research and 
Development. first international youth Mental 
Health Conference. (invited presentation) July 
2010. p 39 Session 4a. Melbourne australia.

3.  Dassanayake t, Michie, pt, Jones, a., Carter, 
G., whyte, i., Mallard, t. “incomplete recovery of 
cognitive functions in patients discharged following 
sedative drug overdose”. abstract Number 156, for 
the NaCCt 2010 meeting in Denver, Co. USa.

4.  Clover K, Carter Gl, rogers K, adams C, Mcelduff 
p. reduced distress and pain among oncology 
outpatients following the introduction of routine 
screening international psycho-oncology Society 12 
world Congress. 24-29 May 2010 Quebec. Canada.

5.  Carter, G. 25.3. Delirium in Hospital treated Self-
poisoning (overdose) adolescents: which Drugs 
are important? 
Clinical perspectives: Child and adolescent 
patients in the General Hospital: integrated 
approaches by physicians and psychiatrists in 
australia and New Zealand. aaCap, New york 
USa. p 201-202. october 2010.

6.  Dr Ben Britton, Dr Kerrie Clover, prof Gregory 
Carter. HeaDS Up: a phase ii trial of a 
psychological intervention to reduce malnutrition 
and depression in head and neck cancer patients 
undergoing radiotherapy oral presentation at 
australian psycho-oncology Society (oZpoZ) 
and poster presentation at Clinical oncology 
Society of australian, annual Scientific Meeting, 
Nov, Melbourne. asia-pacific Journal of Clinical 
oncology 2010 (Suppl)

7.  Clover K, Carter Gl, Kelly p, rogers K. 
Comparison of desire for help with pain and desire 
for help with distress among oncology outpatients. 
oral presentation at australian psycho-oncology 
Society. (oZpoZ) and poster presentation at 
Clinical oncology Society of australian, annual 
Scientific Meeting, Nov, Melbourne. asia-pacific 
Journal of Clinical oncology 2010 (Suppl).

8.  Dr alyna turner, Dr Kerrie Clover, Dr Gregory 
Carter, Dr John Hambridge, Dr Jennifer white. 
electronic screening of depression in patients 
with cardiovascular disease. aCra australian 
Cardiovascular health and rehabilitation 
association. Canberra, aCt, august 2010.

9.  Carter Gl. postcards from the eDge and postcards 
in persia: reducing Suicidal Behaviours and 
treatment Costs. Suicide at the front Door: 
emergency Department Suicide intervention and 
prevention Symposium at eSSSB13 meeting 
rome, September 2010.

10.  Carter, G. risk factors for Suicidal Behaviours 
in Schizophrenia and first episode psychosis: 
evidence and Myths. 2011  
Gralnick lecture (invited plenary) american 
academy of Suicidology, portland or. USa 15th 
april 2011

11.  alyna turner, Kerrie Clover, John Hambridge, 
Jennifer white, louise Nelson, Megan alston, 
Gregory Carter, amanda Baker, Maree Hackett. 
touchscreen: a New approach to Depression 
Screening in CvD patients (poster). (* winner 2nd 
poster prize) 2011 Heart foundation Conference, 
“Heart to Heart: from access to action”, 17-19 
March, 2011, Melbourne

12.  alyna turner, Kerrie Clover , John Hambridge, 
Jennifer white, louise Nelson, Gregory Carter, 
Megan alston, Maree Hackett.electronic 
Screening for Depression in Stroke patients 
(poster). aSpr Sydney australia December 2010.

OTHER PRESENTATIONS:
Carter Gl 
Child and Adolescent Psychiatry.
invited lecture in the Masters of international public 
Health Course, University of Sydney. September 2010.

Suicide and Suicide Attempt.
invited lecture in the Masters of international public 
Health Course, University of Sydney. September 2010.

Psychiatry and Endocrine Disorders: Thyroid, 
Calcium and Steroids
General practice endocrine interest Group. warners’ 
Bay, october 2010.

Dialectical Behaviour Therapy and the Hunter DBT 
Program
Nepean Hospital academic Meeting (University of 
Sydney), November 2010. penrith australia.

SUCCESSFUL GRANT APPLICATIONS
1.  Centre for Brain and Mental Health’s translation, 

implementation and Models of Care program 
scholarship (U of N) $10,000 January – December 
2011. 
Dr Carla walton phD student, Supervisors prof 
amanda Baker and prof. Greg Carter.

2.  organ and tissue Donation authority, NSw Health. 
prediction of time to death after withdrawal of life-
sustaining treatments. 2010. $28,160.00  
Chief investigators: Jorge Brieva, peter Harrigan, 
Nicloe Coleman, Greg Carter.

3.  2010 Near Miss Grant funding level: $30,000. 
Bellberry limited - Near Miss Grant.  
SMS SoS: a rct of the efficacy of SMS text 
messages in reducing re-presentation of deliberate 
self-poisoning patients. research office reference 
number: G0900220. 
professor alison Jones, professor Gregory Carter, 
professor ian whyte, professor Catherine D’este.

PALLIATIVE CARE
the department has been involved in a number 
of research projects. the research unit within the 
department have been involved in at least 10 projects, 
and a number of staff have participated in research 
projects (not all of these projects are listed in the 
research component of this report).

PUBLICATIONS
PUBLISHED REFEREED JOURNAL ARTICLES 
•  Clark K, Currow DC. assessing Constipation in 

palliative Care in a Gastroenterology framework. 
accepted Palliative Medicine, published on line, 
July 2011  

•  Atkinson N, Mather M, Clark K. exploring 
the role for allied Health in palliative Care. The 
European Journal of Palliative Care 2011;18(3)

•  Clark K, lam l, Currow DC. exploring the 
relationship Between the frequency of 
Documented Bowel Movements and prescribed 
laxatives in Hospitalized palliative Care patients. 
Am J Hosp Palliat Care 2011 28 (4): 258 - 263

•  abernethy ap, McDonald Cf, frith pa, Clark K, 
Herndon Je, Marcello J, young iH, Bull J, wilcock 
a, Booth S, wheeler Jl, tulsky Ja, Crockett aJ, 
Currow DC. effect of palliative oxygen versus 
medical (room) air in relieving breathlessness in 
patients with refractory dyspnoea: a double-blind 
randomised controlled trial (NCt00327873). Lancet 
2010; 376: 784-93

•  Clark K, Currow DC, talley NJ. the use of digital 
rectal examinations in palliative care in-patients. 
Journal of Palliative Medicine 2010; 13(7): 797-797. 

•  Clark K, lam lt, agar M, Chye r, Currow DC. 
retrospective analysis of contributing factors to 
laxative prescription in hospitalised palliative care 
patients. Palliative Medicine 2010:24(4):410-18

•  Clark K, Urban K, Currow D. Current approaches 
to diagnosing and managing constipation in 
advanced cancer and palliative care. Journal of 
Palliative Medicine 2010 13(4):473-6.

•  Rohr Y. Understanding the palliative Care patient’s 
perspective of oral Discomfort - international 
Journal of Nursing – published

•  Sneesby L, Satchell R, Good p, & van der riet p. 
(2010). Death and dying in australia: perceptions of 
a Sudanese community. Handover 3(1)4-8.

•  Campbell L. (2010) Clinical supervision in palliative 
Care. Handover 3(1)4-8.

•  Joanne Haney-Davis, Natasha Atkinson & 
annette Moxey. Complementary therapies & their 
availability within australian palliative Care Services” 
article submitted in april for consideration for 
publication in palliative Medicine. 

•  Good p, Sneesby L, Higgins i & van Der reit p. 
Medical officers in acute Care Settings: their views 
on medically assisted hydration at the end of life. 

•  Sneesby L, Satchell R, Good p & van Der reit 
p. Death & Dying in australia: perceptions of a 
Sudanese Community. accepted for publication – 
Journal of advanced Nursing
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INVITED CONTRIBUTIONS
•  Clark K. a pilot study to explore the use of tele-

medicine to undertake specialist consultations in 
palliative care. NSw Health Tele-Medicine Journal 

•  phillips J, Clark K. impact of Culture on end of life 
Care. In Principio Dec 2010.

•  Clark K. philips J. Culture and ethnicity in 
end of life care. Australian Family Physician 
2010;39(4):210-213 

LETTERS TO THE EDITOR
•  Clark K, Currow DC. plain abdominal radiographs 

to diagnose constipation patients with advanced 
progressive illness? (letter). Journal of Pain and 
Symptom Management (accepted february 2011)

BOOK REVIEWS
•  Clark KJ. palliative Care in Neurological disease. 

editors J Byrne, p McNamara, J Seymour, p Mc 
Clinton. reviewed in the MJA March 2010. 

ACCEPTED ARTICLES
•  Sheehan C, Clark K, lam l, Chye r. a retrospective 

analysis of primary diagnosis, co morbidities, 
anticholinergic load and other factors on treatment 
for noisy respiratory secretions at the end of life. 
accepted Journal of palliative Medicine May 2011

•  Clark K, Byfieldt N, Dawe M, Currow DC. an 
audit of the use of methyl naltrexone; contribution 
of other factors to constipation apart from opioids? 
The American Journal of Hospice and Palliative 
Care, accepted March 2011

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS
• paCCSC annual Meeting, Sydney, March 2011:
 - pyrostigmine proposal (N-of-1 study)
 - Methylnaltrexone audit
 - Management of Constipation Study
 - anti-emetic Charting review

•  a retrospective analysis of primary diagnosis, co 
morbidities, anti-cholinergic load and other factors 
on treatment for noisy respiratory secretions at the 
end of life (eol).– CoSa poster

•  ethical and Moral Dilemmas in end of life Decision 
Making: is advanced Care planning the answer?- 
international Society of advance Care planning and 
end of life Care Conference 2011 - london, UK

CONFERENCE ABSTRACTS
International
•  Clark K, Smith J, Currow D. Do the trajectories of 

disturbed bowel habits differ over time in a palliative 
Care population? 12th annual Congress of the 
european association of palliative Care, May 2011

National
•  Clark K, Currow DC, talley NJ, lam l Dinning p, 

Shelby-James t, agar M, Davidson p, phillips J. 
a multi-site randomised controlled trial comparing 
the severity of constipation symptoms experienced 
by palliative care patients receiving usual care 
compared to those diagnosed and managed 
according to the underlying pathophysiology. 
australian National palliative Care Conference, 
august 2011. 

•  Clark K, Gurigis a, Byfieldt N. the impact of 
Constipation on Health related Quality of life for 
people with advanced Cancer. australian National 
palliative Care Conference, august 2011

•  Clark K, Dawes a. Specialist palliative medicine 
consultations undertaken by telemedicine: 
preliminary results. the australia and New Zealand 
Society of palliative Medicine Conference, adelaide, 
14th -17th September 2010.  

•  Clark K. Constipation: a new paradigm – NSw 
palliative care conference Nov 2010

GRANTS AWARDED
•  Clark K. revising the admission and discharge 

policy of a specialist palliative care unit. NSw 
Health Centre for Health Care redesign 
Scholarship, commencing in august 2011 

•  Clark K, Currow DC, talley NJ, lam l, Dinning 
p, Davidson p, Shelby-James t, gar M, phillips J. 
a multi-site randomised controlled trial comparing 
the severity of constipation symptoms experienced 
by palliative care patients receiving usual care 
compared to those diagnosed and managed 
according to the underlying pathophysiology. 
NHMrC project grant 1010096 to commence 
2011 for $481469.20 over three years.

CLINICAL TRIALS STATISTICS
CLINICAL TRIALS
•  Megestrol acetate vs dexamethasone vs placebo 

for anorexia
• octreotide for Bowel obstruction
•  Methylphenidate as a treatment for fatigue in 

palliative Care
•  Management of constipation in palliative care
•  efficacy of opioids for palliative management of 

refractory breathlessness
•  Management of Nausea in Cancer patients: Study 

1 - Guideline targeted therapy vs Haloperidol
•  Management of Nausea in Cancer patients: Study 

2 - levomepromazine vs ondansetron vs placebo
• risperidone and Haloperidol for Delirium
•  a randomised double-blind placebo controlled 

study of subcutaneous Ketamine in the 
management of cancer pain

RESEARCH PROJECTS
•  the impact of constipation on Health related 

Quality of life (Hr-Qol) for advanced cancer 
patients (Hr-Qol Study)

•  Self-reported evaluation of the adverse effects of 
Dexamethasone (SeeD Study)

•  a needs assessment survey of patients and their 
primary Carers after being registered with the 
Calvary Mater Newcastle palliative Care Service 
(Nat project)

•  Dyspnoea assessment tool review
• peritron validation Study
•  rapid pharmacovigilance in palliative care: a 

prospective observational study - understanding 
the burden of adverse drug reactions and their 
impact on symptoms at end of life

•  Critical falls audit
•  family Meeting evaluation (NSap project)
•  a retrospective Chart audit of antiemetic 

prescribing in the Mercy Hospice, Calvary Mater 
Newcastle (performed by Dr erica Cameron-taylor)

•  a retrospective audit of falls in the palliative Care 
Unit at Calvary Mater Newcastle (performed by Dr 
rachel wiseman)

PHYSIOTHERAPY RESEARCH 
UPDATE
aoife McGarvey continues to progress with Neck 
Dissection research with support from the James 
lawrie Grant. aoife presented at the australia and 
New Zealand Head and Neck Cancer Society annual 
Conference in Singapore on her current outcomes. 
there have been 43 participants so far and the project 
is being conducted over three sites (CMN, westmead 
and liverpool). aoife has also successfully had a 
journal article published in the Head and Neck Journal 
on physiotherapy for accessory Nerve Shoulder 
Dysfunction following Neck Dissection: a literature 
review.

the department is currently also a site for a study 
looking at outcomes for acute lung injury patients 
and patients suffering from Critical illness Syndrome. 
the study is moving into the exercise phase and the 
CMN physiotherapy department will be the site for 
this phase.

the department has been involved in a small quality 
project investigating pelvic floor retraining in prostate 
cancer patients and are working with the University 
of Newcastle towards obtaining funding to conduct a 
study in this area.
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Directors

Key:

ARC Audit & Risk Committee
MEC Mission & Ethics Committee
PRC Performance & Remuneration Committee
SDC Strategy & Development Committee

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors of Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd present their report on the Company 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd Board of Directors is comprised of the same membership as the 
National Board of the Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd which is the ultimate parent entity.

The names of Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are detailed below.

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated.
 

NAME QUALIFICATIONS AREAS OF SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITY 

Hon John Watkins M.A., L.LB., DipEd Chair (Appointed 25 November 2010) 

Member, MEC (Appointed 17 February 2011) 

Michael Roche BA (Accounting), FCPA, 
MACS 

Deputy Chair 
Member, ARC 
Chair, SDC 

Hon Gregory Crafter AO LLB Director 
Chair, MEC 

Rebecca Davies BEc; LLB (Hons), FAICD Director 
Member, ARC 
Member, PRC  

John Mackay AM BA, FAIM Director 
Chair, PRC

Professor Katherine McGrath MB BS, FRCPA, FAICD Director 
Member, PRC
Member, SDC 

Professor Peter Ravenscroft AM MB, BS (Qld), MD (Qld), 
FRACP, FFPMANZCA, 
FaChPM 

Director 
Member, MEC 
Member, SDC 

Jane Tongs MBA, BBus, FCA, FCPA, 
MAICD 

Director 
Chair, ARC 

Brigid Tracey AM AM BN (Bachelor of 
Nursing), Grad Dip 
Nursing Administration 

Director 
Member, ARC
Member, MEC 

Tom Brennan 
(Resigned 25 November 2010)

BA, LLB Chair 
Member, PRC 
Member, SDC  

David Penny 
(Resigned 25 November 2010)

BHS (Management), 
Master of General 
Business 

Director 
Member, MEC 

Margaret McGowen BEc, FCA, FFin, ACIS Company Secretary 
David Bergman BCom, MEc, ACA, FFin Company Secretary (alt) (Appointed 17 March 2011)

1
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Held Att Held Att Held Att Held Att Held Att
 Tom Brennan 5 5 2 0 3 2
 Hon John Watkins 6 6 2 0
 Hon Gregory Crafter OA 11 11 4 4
 Rebecca Davies 11 10 6 6 4 3
 John Mackay AM 11 11 4 4
 David Penny 5 5 2 2
 Michael Roche 11 9 6 6 3 3
 Jane Tongs 11 9 6 5
 Prof Peter Ravenscroft AM 11 10 4 4 3 2
 Prof Katherine McGrath 11 9 4 2 3 3
 Brigid Tracey AM 11 11 6 5 4 4

Key:
ARC Audit & Risk Committee
MEC Mission & Ethics Committee

PRC Performance & Remuneration Committee

SDC Strategy & Development Committee

The principal activities of the Company remain the ownership and operation of the Calvary Mater 
Newcastle.

PRC Director

Principal activities 

Results

Board 
Meetings

ARC MEC

Significant changes in the state of affairs
On 20 May 2011 the Company entered into a series of agreements at the conclusion of the 
construction phase of the Public-Private-Partnership (PPP) arrangements.  As a result of these 
agreements, the Company has recognised the fair value of the buildings, plant and equipment and 
minor equipment as resources received free of charge.

A surplus of $92.491M was achieved for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 (2010: surplus 
$0.377M).

(a) Revenues
The Company's revenue from operating activities totalled $243.951M (2010: $131.993M).  Grants 
and subsidies from Government for hospital operations totalled $210.456M (2010: $101.323M). 

The Directors attended the following Board meetings and applicable Committees each Director was 
eligible to attend:

SDC

Review of operations
The Company continued to provide quality services in accordance with the mission vision and values 
of the organisation. 

2
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Significant events after year end
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report 
any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors 
of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company, in future financial years.

Future developments 

Revenue from operations for the year ended 30 June 2011 includes $100.040M resources received 
free of charge - capital and revenue.  Of this amount, $99.004M is the recognition of the fair value of 
assets ($93.280M) and minor equipment ($5.724M) acquired as part of the redevelopment under the 
PPP arrangements.  The minor equipment of $5.724M has been immediately expensed in line with 
the Company's policy.  The remaining component of the resources received free of charge - revenue 
of $1.036M (2010: $1.049M) is recognition of the NSW government funding of superannuation 
contributions for employees who are members of the defined benefit contribution schemes SASS and 
SSS.

Grants and subsidies represent 86% of revenue from operating activities.

(b) Expenses
The Company's expense from operating activities totalled $156.939M (2010: $134.894M).  Expenses 
on personnel costs represent 58% of total operating expense.

Staffing levels for clinical services have increased during the reporting period with total staff of 871 
full time equivalents as at 30 June 2011 (2010: 836).

(c) Hospital activities
The overall inpatient activity for the year was 14,129 separations, an increase of 13% on the year 
ended 30 June 2010.  Non-inpatient activity for the hospital during the year was 305,868 occasions 
of service, a decrease of 6% on the year ended 30 June 2010.

The Company plans to continue the integration and expansion of its current range of services in 
accordance with the mission, vision and values of the organisation.

Report preparation
The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 

Deed of access and indemnity - Directors
Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd has executed a Deed of Access & Indemnity which enshrines 
directors’ rights of access to records for seven years after they cease office and also indemnifies 
directors (to the extent permitted by law) against liability incurred in the course of their duties as a 
director of companies within the Little Company of Mary Health Care group.

Indemnification of officers
Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd paid a premium during the year in relation to a Directors & 
Officers Liability policy indemnifying the Directors and Officers of the Group for losses which the 
Director or Officer may become legally obligated to pay on account of any claim made against the 
Director or Officer during the policy period for a wrongful act committed during the policy period.

3
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2011 2010
$ '000 $ '000

Revenue from operations 243,951 131,993 
Other revenues 5,479 3,278 

Total revenues 2 249,430 135,271 

Employee benefits expense 3 91,521 85,200 
Depreciation expense 3 3,716 2,688 
Finance costs 3 8 61 
Supplies 27,668 20,044 
Computer expenses 101 233 
Consulting and legal costs 331 127 
Contracted services 20,442 18,658 
Insurance 202 140 
LCMHC National Office shared service contributions 1,042 726 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 4,563 277 
Operating lease rental expenses 3 - 1 
Power, light and heat 22 6 
Public relations 3 9 
Repairs and maintenance 354 698 
Subscriptions 59 45 
Travel 853 849 
Other expenses 6,054 5,132 

Total expenses 156,939 134,894 

Net profit for the year 92,491 377 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 92,491 377 

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Note

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the 
financial statements set out on pages 12 to 28.

8
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2011 2010
$ '000 $ '000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4/9 41,922 33,922 
Trade and other receivables 5 2,847 2,341 
Inventories 6 2,295 1,882 
Other current assets 7 174 152 
Total current assets 47,238 38,297 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 128,925 41,185 
Total non-current assets 128,925 41,185 

Total assets 176,163 79,482 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 6,331 4,167 
Provisions 12 28,062 26,026 
Total current liabilities 34,393 30,193 

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 12 832 842 
Total non-current liabilities 832 842 

Total liabilities 35,225 31,035 

NET ASSETS 140,938 48,447 

Equity
Retained earnings  140,938 48,447 

TOTAL EQUITY 140,938 48,447 

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2011

The Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements set out on pages 12 to 28.

Note

9
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2011 2010
$ '000 $ '000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 39,632 29,532 
Payments to suppliers and employees (143,585) (128,537)
Government grants received 121,426 110,871 
GST recovered from the ATO 4,404 4,127 
GST payments to ATO (13,229) (12,091)
Interest received 2,091 1,156 

Net cash provided by operating activities 10,739 5,058 

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment (2,739) (1,437)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,739) (1,437)

Net increase in cash held 8,000 3,621 

Cash at the beginning of the financial year 33,922 30,301 

Cash at end of the financial year 41,922 33,922 

Note

The Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements 
set out on pages 12 to 28.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

10
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Retained
earnings Total

$ '000 $ '000

Balance 1 July 2009 48,070 48,070 
Surplus for the year 377 377 

Balance 30 June 2010 48,447 48,447 

Balance 1 July 2010 48,447 48,447 
Surplus for the year 92,491 92,491 

Balance 30 June 2011 140,938 140,938 

The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements set out on pages 12 to 28.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

11
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Note 1:Statement of significant accounting policies

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure

Accounting policies
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations 
Act 2001.

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical 
costs, except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments.

The financial statements were authorised by the Board on 22 September 2011.

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards (early adopted) ; and 
AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements (early adopted).

The following new and revised Standards have been adopted in the current year.  There have been 
no impacts on the amounts disclosed in the financial statements arising from the early adoption as 
the standards related to disclosure only.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd is a Public Company limited by guarantee, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia.

Revisions of accounting estimates
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively in current and future periods 
only.

Rounding off
The Company is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/100 applies.  Accordingly, amounts in 
the financial statements and Directors' Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Taxation
The Company is exempt from income tax under the current provisions of the Australian Income 
Tax Assessment Act (1997).  Accordingly, there is no income tax expense or income tax 
payable.

Comparative figures
Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation for the 
current financial year as a result of changes in the mapping of the general ledger accounts.

12
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

(e)

(f)

Grants received

Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO).  In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.  Receivables and payables in the Statement 
of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.

The GST components of cash flows arising from operating, investing and financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current 
asset or liability in the Statement of Financial Position.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the 
financial asset.

Donation revenue
Donation revenue is recognised when received, at the fair value of the asset donated.

Reciprocal grants
Grants received on the condition that specified services be delivered, or conditions fulfilled, are 
considered reciprocal.  Such grants are initially recognised as a liability and revenue is 
recognised as services are performed or conditions fulfilled.

Revenue recognition
Where applicable, revenues are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net 
of the amount of goods and service tax (GST) payable to the Australian Taxation Office.

Resources received free of charge
Revenue is recognised when fair value can be reliably measured.  Usage of resources is 
recognised as a corresponding expense.

Non-reciprocal grants
Revenue is recognised when the grant is received or receivable.

Rendering of services
Patient fee income is recognised when the fee in respect of services provided is receivable.
Accrued patient income represents an estimate of fees due from patients not billed at balance 
date.  This estimate is calculated with reference to individual episode information and per diem 
rates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

(g)

(h)

Recognition and initial measurement
Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised 
when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs where the 
instrument is not classified as at fair value through profit and loss.  Transaction costs related to 
instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are expensed to profit or loss 
immediately.  Financial instruments are classified and measured as set out below.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires 
or the asset is transferred to another party whereby the Company no longer has any significant 
continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset.  Financial liabilities 
are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non 
cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are held for trading 
for the purpose of short-term profit taking, where they are derivatives not held for hedging 
purposes, or designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance 
evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key personnel on a fair value basis 
in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy.  Realised and 
unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included in profit or loss in 
the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

Patient fees receivable are generally settled from Health Funds within 30 days and are carried 
at amounts due.

Other debtors to be settled within 30 days are carried at amounts due.

Finance costs
Finance costs include interest and finance lease/hire purchase finance charges and are 
expensed as incurred.  In the case of assets which are under construction (and prior to being 
ready to use), finance costs are capitalised and form part of the total construction cost of the 
asset in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Financial instruments
If the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then they 
are classified as held-to-maturity.  Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

(i)

(j) Property, plant and equipment

(k)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit and loss during the financial period in which 
they are incurred.

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and 
fixed or determinable payments, and it is the Company's intention to hold these investments to 
maturity.  They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated 
as such or that are not classified in any other categories.  They comprise investments in the 
equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable 
payments.  These assets are held at fair values with movements recorded directly to reserves.

Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Trade accounts payable are normally settled within 30 days.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Property, plant and equipment are measured on a cost basis less depreciation and impairment 
losses.

The cost of manufactured products includes direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
portion of variable and fixed overheads.  Overheads are applied on the basis of normal 
operating capacity.  Costs are assigned on the basis of weighted average costs.

Depreciation and amortisation
Assets are depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method of depreciation to their 
estimated residual values, from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed 
assets, from the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.  Leasehold improvements 
are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful lives of the improvements.

Depreciation and amortisation rates and methods and residual values are reviewed annually 
for appropriateness.  When changes are made, adjustments are reflected prospectively in 
current and future periods only.

15



Calvary Mater NewCaStle  •  review of operatioNS • 2010/2011  • 57
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

The depreciation/amortisation rates used for each class of asset are as follows:
2011 2010

Buildings 2.5% 2.5%
Plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings 10.0% 10.0%
Medical, surgical and office equipment 15.0% 15.0%
Computer equipment 33.3% 33.3%

(l)

(m)

(n)

Operating leases
Payments made under operating leases are expensed in equal instalments over the 
accounting periods covered by the lease term.

Employee benefits
Provision is made for the Company's liability for employee benefits arising from services 
rendered by employees to balance date.  Employee benefits, where the Company does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months, have been classified as 
a current liability.  Employee benefits payable later than one year have been classified as a 
non-current liability.  Both the long-term current liabilities and non-current liabilities have been 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those 
benefits.

Leased assets
Leases of plant and equipment under which the Company assumes substantially all the risks 
and benefits of ownership are classified as finance leases.  Other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Finance leases
Finance leases are capitalised.  A lease asset and a lease liability equal to the present value of 
the minimum lease payments are recorded at the inception of the lease.  Capitalised lease 
assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the life of the asset.  Lease liabilities are 
reduced by repayments of principal.  The interest components of the lease payments are 
expensed.

In the case of Property, Plant and Equipment, 'Value in Use' is taken to be the depreciated 
replacement cost of the asset.

Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the Company, a not-for-profit entity, reviews the carrying values of all 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.  If 
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value.  Any 
excess of the asset's carrying value over the recoverable amount is expensed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

(o)

(p) Key estimates and judgements
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements 
based on historical knowledge and best available current information.  Estimates assume a 
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data 
obtained both externally and within the Company and LCM Health Care group. 

Superannuation plan
The Company contributes to various defined contribution and accumulation superannuation
plans.  Contributions are charged as an expense as incurred.

For defined contribution plans, contributions are expensed when employees have rendered 
services entitling them to the contributions.

Key judgements - provision for impairment of receivables
Current trade and term receivables are non interest bearing loans and generally on 30-day 
terms.  Non-current trade and term receivables are assessed for recoverability based on the 
underlying terms of contract.  A provision for impairment is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that an individual trade or term receivable is impaired.

Trade receivables
Included in accounts receivable at 30 June 2011 is an amount of $0.931M which represents 
the net trade receivables believed to be recoverable by the Company after providing for an 
amount of $0.035M which is considered  to prudently represent those receivables considered 
impaired.  The Company reviews outstanding debts as the basis for impairment.  All 
impairment calculations are based on a commercial assessment criteria, including 
segmentation, ageing, billing and collections procedures and prevailing trends.

The Directors do not believe, however, that the entire amount of the impairment provision is 
not recoverable.  The provision represents 4% of trade receivables as at 30 June 2011.  The 
30 June 2010 provision amounted to 6% of total trade receivables.

Other debtors
Other debtors consist of related parties, government departments and the like.  The Directors 
do not believe any of the amounts warrant impairment.

Key estimates - impairment
The Company is a not-for-profit entity and assesses for asset impairment at each reporting 
date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company that may lead to the impairment of 
assets.  Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
determined.  The recoverable amount is defined as the higher of its fair value (less costs to 
sell), and its ‘value in use’.  As a not-for-profit entity, and where appropriate, value in use is 
calculated as the higher of the present value of future cash flows (inclusive of an appropriate 
assessment period and terminal value of the asset) or the asset's depreciated replacement 
cost.
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2011 2010
Note $ '000 $ '000

2 Revenue
Operating activities
Revenue from rendering of services 33,495 30,670 
Recurrent grants received/receivable 108,259 98,370 
Public Health Service capital grants 2,157 1,904 
Resources received free of charge - capital 93,280 - 
Resources received free of charge - revenue 6,760 1,049 

243,951 131,993 

Non-operating activities
Interest revenue 2,091 1,156 
Donation revenue 1,522 779 
Canteen takings and meals and accommodation 178 187 
Other revenue 1,688 1,156 

5,479 3,278 

Total revenue 249,430 135,271 

3 Expenses
Depreciation of:

buildings 1,627 1,131 
plant and equipment 2,089 1,557 

Total depreciation expenses 3,716 2,688 

Finance costs:
interest and bank fees 8 61 

Bad and doubtful debts 32 36 

Employee benefits:
Salaries and wages 81,490 75,864 
Superannuation 6,324 5,854 
Workcover 1,427 995 
Long-term and post-employment benefits 2,280 2,487 

91,521 85,200 

Resources received free of charge
On 20 May 2011 the Company entered into a series of agreements at the conclusion of the 
construction phase of the PPP arrangements.  As a result of the agreements, the Company 
has recognised the fair value of the buildings, plant and equipment and minor equipment as 
resources received free of charge.  The receipt of the capitalised assets totalling $93.280M is 
disclosed as as resources received free of charge - capital and the receipt of the minor 
equipment not capitalised totalling $5.724M is disclosed as resources received free of charge - 
revenue.  The remaining component of the resources received free of charge - revenue of 
$1.036M (2010: $1.049M) is recognition of the NSW government funding of superannuation 
contributions for employees who are members of the defined benefit contribution schemes 
SASS and SSS.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd
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2011 2010
Note $ '000 $ '000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

Operating lease rental expense:
Other parties - 1 

Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 4,563 277 

4 Cash
Current
Cash at bank and on hand 16,922 8,922 
Short-term term deposits 25,000 25,000 

41,922 33,922 

5 Trade and other receivables  
Current
Trade receivables
Receivables for patient fees 966 614 
Less:  Provision for impairment of receivables (35) (37)

931 577 
Other receivables
Other receivables 1,916 1,764 

2,847 2,341 

Movement in the impairment of receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year (37) (23)
Impairment losses recognised on receivables (32) (36)
Amounts written off as uncollectable 34 22 
Balance at the end of the year (35) (37)

6 Inventories
Current - at cost
Medical and surgical 381 311 
Pharmacy 1,914 1,571 

2,295 1,882 

7 Other assets
Current
Prepayments 174 152 

8 Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land - at cost 7,612 7,007 

Buildings - at cost (a) 129,786 56,856 
Less:  Accumulated depreciation (20,776) (31,576)

109,010 25,280 
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2011 2010
Note $ '000 $ '000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

Plant and equipment - at cost (a) 23,574 14,693 
Less:  Accumulated depreciation (11,778) (10,579)

11,796 4,114 

Motor vehicles - at cost 554 582 
Less:  Accumulated depreciation (47) (47)

507 535 

Assets under construction - at cost - 4,249 

128,925 41,185 

Freehold land
Carrying amount at beginning of year 7,007 7,007 
Acquisitions / additions 605 - 
Carrying amount at end of year 7,612 7,007 

Buildings (a)
Carrying amount at beginning of year 25,280 26,437 
Transfers in / (out) - (26)
Acquisitions / additions 89,584 - 
Disposals (4,227) - 
Depreciation (1,627) (1,131)
Carrying amount at end of year 109,010 25,280 

Plant and equipment (a)
Carrying amount at beginning of year 4,114 5,350 
Acquisitions / additions 5,693 455 
Disposals (171) (160)
Transfers in / (out) 4,249 26 
Depreciation (2,089) (1,557)
Carrying amount at end of year 11,796 4,114 

Motor Vehicles
Carrying amount at beginning of year 535 569 
Acquisitions / additions 795 576 
Disposals (823) (610)
Carrying amount at end of year 507 535 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant & equipment are set 
out below:

20



62 •  Calvary Mater NewCaStle  •  review of operatioNS  • 2010/2011  

2011 2010
Note $ '000 $ '000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

Assets under construction
Carrying amount at beginning of year 4,249 4,249 
Reallocation (4,249) - 
Carrying amount at end of year - 4,249 

(a)

The carrying value of all land and buildings at balance date is $116.622M.

In 2005/06 the NSW Health Administration Corporation entered into a contract with a private 
sector provider, Novacare Project Partnership, for financing, design, construction and 
commissioning of a new hospital facility, a mental health facility and refurbishment of existing 
buildings, and facilities management and delivery of ancillary non-clinical services on the 
Calvary Mater Newcastle site until November 2033.

In 2009/10 full service commencement of both the general and mental health hospital facilities 
commenced.  The official opening of the new facilities took place in August 2009.  The legal 
documentation for the ongoing operation of the PPP arrangement, following finalisation of the 
construction phase of the PPP, was executed on 20 May 2011.

Hunter New England Local Health District (HNELHD) transferred control of the newly 
constructed general hospital facility through a sub-lease agreement to the Company.  Once 
control passed, the Company recognised the fair value of the buildings and plant and 
equipment as resources received free of charge - capital of $93.280M.  The terms and 
conditions of the use of the redeveloped facility are contained in a Head Lease between the 
parties to the PPP arrangement.  The recognition is based on the fact that the Company, being 
an Affiliated Health Organisation which is outside the accounting control of either HNELHD or 
the NSW Health Department, recognises its funding (recurrent or capital) as grant income in 
the year of receipt.

Buildings, plant and equipment

Review of Interpretation 12
The applicability of Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements to the activities of the 
Company in respect of the operation of the public hospital has been considered.  Interpretation 
12 mandates the accounting for certain public-to-private service concession arrangements.

The arrangements for the operation of the hospital are not within the scope of Interpretation 12 
because the overall scope for decision making and control over the daily operations and the 
management of the hospital remains within the Company’s decision making framework.  In 
addition, the Company retains significant residual value in the assets.

The Directors agree with this view and, therefore, believe it is appropriate the activities and 
assets of the Company be recorded on the Statement of Financial Position of the Company in 
order to present a true and fair set of accounts that comply with Australian Accounting 
Standards.
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2011 2010
Note $ '000 $ '000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

9 Restricted assets

Brief details of externally imposed conditions
Category / Conditions
Special Purpose / Conditions imposed by granting body 9,070 12,187 
Charitable Trust / Trust Deed 21,219 12,784 
Research grants / Conditions imposed by granting body 4,993 4,971 

35,282 29,942 

Cash at bank and on hand 10,282 4,942 
Term deposits 25,000 25,000 

35,282 29,942 

10 Trade and other payables
Current
Trade payables 3,243 2,183 
Grants / income received in advance 176 177 
Other payables and accruals 2,912 1,807 

6,331 4,167 

11 Bank overdraft and financing arrangements
The Company has access to the following lines of credit:
Group pooling facility - bank (a) 2,000 2,000 

2,000 2,000 

Facilities not utilised at balance date:
Group pooling facility - bank 2,000 2,000 

2,000 2,000 

Trade payable terms vary from 7 to 30 days generally.  No interest is charged on trade 
payables.

Other payables and accruals comprise salaries and wages and goods and services expenses 
incurred.

The assets are only available for application in accordance with the terms of these restrictions.

The Company holds assets which are restricted by externally imposed conditions, for example, 
in line with the 'Accounts and Audit Determination' of NSW Health in exercising its powers 
conferred by the Health Services Act 1997 (NSW) and grant and donor requirements.

Grants and other income received in advance relate to the components of grants received 
from the Hunter New England Local Health District and the Cancer Institute of NSW where the 
work to be performed under the terms of the grant was not completed at year end.

Disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position as:
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2011 2010
Note $ '000 $ '000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

(a)

12 Provisions
Current

Employee benefits:
Annual leave 9,679 8,926 
Long service leave 15,798 15,082 
Accrued salary expenses 2,469 1,960 
Other employee provisions 116 58 

28,062 26,026 
Non Current

Employee benefits:
Long service leave 832 842 

Employee benefit provisions
Employee benefit provisions are reported as current liabilities where the Company does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months. Consequently, the 
current portion of the employee benefit provision includes both short-term benefits measured 
at nominal values and long-term benefits, measured at present value. Employee benefit 
provisions that are reported as non-current liabilities refer to long-term benefits of non vested 
long service leave that do not qualify for recognition as a current liability, and are measured at 
present value.

Funding of employee entitlements
The NSW Health Department, via the Local Health District, has committed to providing annual 
funding to meet employee entitlements that become payable in that year in the course of 
providing services.  These funds are part of the normal operating subsidies paid to the 
Company by Hunter New England Local Health District.

Group pooling facility - bank
The LCM Health Care Group utilises a pooling facility with interest calculated daily and paid 
monthly on the Group balance. The security for this facility is provided jointly and severally by 
all the entities in the Group. This facility avoids the need for individual companies to have 
overdraft facilities in place.
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2011 2010
Note $ '000 $ '000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

Superannuation plans 
The Company contributes to employee superannuation funds for all eligible employees based 
on various percentages of their gross salary, with a minimum contribution of 9% of gross 
salary.  All employees are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death.

A small number of employees who commenced employment with the Company prior to 18 
December 1992 are members of the defined benefit State Authority Superannuation Scheme 
(SASS).  This scheme is managed by the State Super Authority and the Company has neither 
control nor responsibility for the scheme. The Company's only obligations are the payment of 
any employee salary sacrificed employer contributions and employee post-tax employee 
contributions.  The NSW Treasury remits all other required employer contributions directly to 
the scheme.  The Company accounts for the liability paid by NSW Treasury as having been 
extinguished resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary 
revenue item described as Resources received free of charge.

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae 
specified by the NSW Department of Health.  The expense for certain superannuation 
schemes (ie Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the 
employees' salary.  For other superannuation schemes (ie State Superannuation Scheme and 
State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the 
employees' superannuation contributions.

The Company has indemnification from the NSW Health Department for any accrued public 
hospital employee leave entitlements or any other employee entitlements such as 
redundancies payable by Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd which the Company is liable to 
pay at the time of, or becomes liable to pay as a consequence of, ceasing to conduct a public 
hospital in whole or part, as a public hospital listed in the Third Schedule of the Health 
Services Act or any successor Act subject to:

- the Company being specified in the Third Schedule of the Health Services Act 1997 or any 
successor Act as the operator of the public hospital;
- a transparent system being established to provide annual verification to the Area Health 
Service of the accrued recreation and long service leave entitlement in respect of each named 
public hospital employee as at 30 June each year;
- real property and other substantial assets used to conduct the public hospital not being 
disposed of at any time without the full knowledge and agreement of the NSW Health 
Department;
- the completion of a due diligence process should it be required in the event of wind up or 
cessation of operations whereby assets, or parts thereof, used to conduct the hospital are to 
be applied to offset liabilities properly incurred in operating the public hospital; and
- the Company using its best endeavours to transfer all relevant employees together with the 
liability for the accrued entitlements for those employees as part of such transfer of operations, 
if at some future time the Company enters into an agreement to transfer part or all of the 
operations of the public hospital to a public health organisation (as defined in the Health 
Services Act) or to the State.
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2011 2010
Note $ '000 $ '000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

13 Commitments
Operating lease commitments

Public private partnership (PPP) 
In 2005/06 the NSW Health Administration Corporation entered into a contract with a private 
sector provider, Novacare Project Partnership for financing, design, construction and 
commissioning of a new hospital facility, a mental health facility and refurbishment of existing 
buildings, and facilities management and delivery of ancillary non-clinical services on the site 
until November 2033.

The redevelopment was completed in three stages and full service commencement of both the 
general and mental health hospital facilities commenced in 2009/10.  The official opening of 
the new facilities took place in August 2009.  On 20 May 2011 the Company entered into a 
series of agreements at conclusion of the construction phase of the PPP arrangements.  As a 
result of the agreements, the Company has recognised the fair value of the buildings, plant 
and equipment and minor equipment as resources received free of charge totalling $99.004M. 

The Company leases assets under operating leases.  Leases generally provide the Company 
with a right of renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated.  Lease rental expenses are 
disclosed at Note 3.

A separate aspect of the redevelopment involved the construction of a new mental health 
facility and refurbishment of the Convent and McAuley buildings for the provision of mental 
health services.  These facilities remain an asset of Hunter New England Local Health District 
(HNELHD) for the duration of the Head Lease.  HNELHD will recognise the new mental health 
facility, Convent and McAuley buildings at the Calvary Mater Newcastle site as an asset.  The 
basis for the accounting treatment is that services will be delivered by HNELHD on the site of 
Calvary Mater Newcastle for the duration of the Head Lease for these facilities until November 
2033.  The terms and conditions of the use of the redeveloped facility are contained in a Head 
Lease between the parties to the PPP arrangement.

Other expenditure commitments, totalling $6.771M, for the provision of facilities management 
and delivery of other non-clinical services on the Calvary Mater Newcastle site, were expended 
for the year ended 30 June 2011.  As the Company is not contractually committed to the 
agreement, the expenditure commitment over the life of the service provision is contingent 
upon recurrent funding continuing to be received from the NSW Health Department, via 
HNELHD.
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2011 2010
$ $ 

14 Related parties
(a) Key management personnel

Executives (aggregate) 845,340 754,475 

Other related parties
(b) Transactions

Recovery of salaries and wages (incl on-costs) 1,231 - 
Palliative care education 3,875 5,391 
Recovery for goods and services 210 - 

National Office shared service contribution 635,594 591,996 
National IT shared service contribution - non-recurrent 178,692 48,000 
National IT shared service contribution - recurrent 227,303 86,004 
Payments for goods & services 109,397 34,149 
Insurance premiums 71,977 3,023 
Salaries and wages (incl on-costs) recovered - 5,922 

(c) Payables
Amounts payable to LCM Health Care group companies:

Sundry creditors - 350 

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

From time to time Directors, executives and other key management personnel of the Company 
may be treated as patients.  This service is provided on the same terms and conditions as those 
entered into by other employees or customers and are trivial or domestic in nature.

A payment, the details of which are confidential and not disclosed, was made by the Parent 
Entity, Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd, in respect of a contract of insurance indemnifying 
all Officers against liability for any claims brought against a Director or Officer.

Non-Executive Directors' fees and National executive salaries are paid and are reported 
separately by the Parent Entity, Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd.  Remuneration for the 
Company's Executives is detailed below.

Amounts included in expenditure during the year to LCM Health Care group companies:

Amounts included in income received during the year from LCM Health Care group 
companies:
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15 Financial risk management

2011 2010
Carrying
amount

Carrying
amount

$'000 $'000
Financial assets 

3,021 2,493 
41,922 33,922 
44,943 36,415 

Financial liabilities
6,331 4,167 

16 Contingent liabilities and assets

There are no other events identified and not brought to account which could be expected to have 
a material effect on the financial statements in the future.

Trust funds
The Company holds trust fund monies which are used for the safe keeping of patient monies, 
deposits on hired items of equipment and Private Practice Trust Funds.  These monies are 
excluded from the financial statements as the Company cannot use them for achievement of its 
objectives.  The total liability not recorded in the financial statements is $0.007M.

Workers compensation hindsight adjustment
The NSW Treasury Managed Fund normally calculates hindsight premiums each year.  However, 
in relation to workers compensation, adjustments are delayed.  The final hindsight adjustment for 
the 2004/05 fund year and an interim adjustment for the 2006/07 fund year were not calculated 
until 2010/11.  As a result, the 2005/06 final and 2007/08 interim hindsight calculations will be paid 
in 2011/12.  It is not possible for the Company to reliably quantify the amount outstanding.

Claims on Managed Fund
On 1 July 1989 the NSW Government implemented a self insurance scheme know as the 
Treasury Managed Fund (TMF).  Since that time, the Company has been a member of the TMF.
The TMF will pay to or on behalf of the Company all sums which it shall become legally liable to 
pay by way of compensation or legal liability except for employment related, discrimination and 
harassment claims that do not have state-wide implications.  Therefore, since 1 July 1989, apart 
from the exceptions noted above no contingent liabilities exist in respect of liability claims against 
the Company.  A Solvency Fund (now called Pre-Managed Fund) Reserve was established by the 
NSW Government to deal with the insurance matters incurred before 1 July 1989 that were above 
the limit of insurance held or for matters that were incurred prior to 1 July 1989 that would have 
become verdicts against the State.  The Pre-Managed Fund will respond to all claims against the 
Company.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

The Company's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable 
and accounts payable.

The Company does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2010 or 2011.  The 
Company's overall risk management strategy seeks to meet its financial targets whilst minimising 
potential adverse effects on financial performance.

Interest rate risk is managed with floating rate debt.  As at 30 June 2011, the Company had no 
debt.

At amortised cost

Loans and receivables
Available for sale
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17 Economic dependency and going concern

18 Events subsequent to balance date

19 Registered office and members guarantee

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

The Company is one of a number of subsidiaries of the Parent Entity, Little Company of Mary 
Health Care Ltd.  Whilst it is not envisaged the Company will need to rely on the Parent Entity 
for its economic dependency, the constitution of the Company has the provision required 
under s187 of the Corporations Act which expressly authorises the Company to act in the best 
interests of the Parent Entity, so that it is capable of providing economic assistance to the 
Parent Entity, provided the Company will not become insolvent as a result of giving such 
economic assistance.

The Parent Entity may, in turn, provide economic assistance to any of its subsidiaries by 
withdrawing funds from the Company or any other of its controlled entities, except for those 
moneys held in certain Special Purpose or Trust Fund Accounts, to provide such support as is 
necessary to enable the Parent Entity or subsidiary to pay its debts as and when they fall due, 
provided neither the Parent Entity or the Company will become insolvent as a result of the 
withdrawal.

The Company's registered office is Level 18, 68 Pitt St Sydney NSW 2000 and the principal 
place of business of the Company is Calvary Mater Newcastle, Edith St Waratah NSW 2298.

The Directors currently believe that, collectively, the Parent Entity and its subsidiaries have 
sufficient cash resources to ensure the Company, the Parent Entity, and other subsidiaries of 
the Parent Entity will continue to trade as going concerns and they are unaware of any 
material uncertainties, events or conditions, which may cast significant doubt on this belief.

The Company derives most of its income from the NSW Health Department, via Hunter New 
England Local Health District.  A going concern basis for the preparation of the financial 
statements has been adopted as it is expected that sufficient funding from the NSW Health 
Department will continue.

An indemnification has also been obtained from the NSW Health Department in relation to 
employee entitlements refer to Note 12.

Of total revenue, 84% is derived from NSW Government funding, and 4% is derived from 
private patient revenue.  Benefits are paid in accordance with agreements between the NSW 
Department of Health and the health funds.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in 
Australia and operating in Waratah, NSW.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of 
the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.
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